



CALIFORNIA STATE LIBRARY

California Research Bureau

900 N Street, State 300 P.O. Box 942837 Sacramento, CA 94237-0001 (916) 653-7843 phone (916) 654-5829 fax

### Early California Laws and Policies Related to California Indians

By Kimberly Johnston-Dodds

Prepared at the request of Senator John L. Burton, President Pro Tempore

SEPTEMBER 2002

CRB-02-014

# Early California Laws and Policies Related to California Indians

By Kimberly Johnston-Dodds

### Acknowledgements

The primary documents and sources reviewed for this report are located at the California State Archives, California State Library, Sacramento Archives and Museum Collection Center, and the Bancroft Library at the University of California, Berkeley. The secondary sources are located in the California State Library and University of California library collections.

Many people that work in these special collections and archives shared their knowledge, expertise and extended assistance in locating original bill files, legislative reports and rare documents, county records, and legal notices and accounts in California newspapers that were reviewed for this report. Their individual and collective efforts deserve mention and sincere thanks.

First, I especially thank Susan Hanks, Librarian in the Information Services Unit of the California Research Bureau, for her all her efforts related to this project, in particular for her tireless work searching the newspaper collections of the California History Section of the California State Library.

I thank all the librarians and staff of the California History Section, California State Library, for their assistance with my many, many requests for collection materials and searches. Special thanks are sent to John Gonzales, Catherine Hanson-Tracy, Ellen Harding, Jenny Hoye, Vickie Lockhart, and Lara Miyazaki. Special thanks are also sent to Gary Kurutz, Curator of Special Collections for the California State Library, for sharing with me his wisdom and encyclopedic memory of historic California sources and documents. I also sincerely thank David Cismowski, Librarian in the Government Publications Section, and Beth Owens, Senior Librarian in the Witkin State Law Library, California State Library, for sharing their expertise and assistance with the rare books and documents in these collections.

I thank the archivists and staff at the California State Archives for their extensive efforts and assistance related to my review of original bill files and legislative documents. I especially thank Melodi Andersen, Sydney Bailey, Jeff Crawford, Stephanie Hamishin, Linda Johnson, and Genevieve Troka.

Most importantly, many thanks to Roz Dick, Judy Hust, Trina Dangberg, and Joshua Mann for their professional editing, formatting and preparation of this report.

### Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
THE FIRST CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION, SUFFRAGE AND THE CALIFORNIA	NDIANS 3
1850: AN ACT FOR THE GOVERNMENT AND PROTECTION OF INDIANS	5
LOSS OF LANDS AND CULTURES	5
A BSENCE OF LEGAL RIGHTS	
Inequitable Due Process	
Justices of the Peace	
Justices of the Peace for Indians	7
VAGRANCY AND PUNISHMENT UNDER "AN ACT FOR THE GOVERNMENT AND PROTECTION	
A MENDMENTS TO "AN ACT FOR THE GOVERNMENT AND PROTECTION OF INDIANS"	
HISTORICAL ACCOUNTS ABOUT INDENTURES, KIDNAPPING AND SELLING OF INDIANS	9
Articles of Indenture	9
Accounts of Kidnapping and Selling of Indians	10
EARLY CALIFORNIA APPRENTICESHIP AND VAGRANCY LAWS	13
1858 - AN ACT TO PROVIDE FOR BINDING MINORS AS APPRENTICES, CLERKS AND SERVAN	
1855 – AN ACT TO PUNISH VAGRANTS, VAGABONDS, AND DANGEROUS AND SUSPICIOUS I	'ERSONS 14
1850 - 1859: CALIFORNIA MILITIA AND "EXPEDITIONS AGAINST THE INDIA	ANS" 15
THE GOVERNORS AND THE MILITIA	
THE CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE AND THE MILITIA	17
1860: THE LEGISLATURE'S MAJORITY AND MINORITY REPORTS ON THE MENDOCINO WAR	
The Majority Report of the Joint Special Committee	
The Minority Report of the Special Joint Committee	
The Mendocino War Reports and the 1860 Amendment to "An Act for the Go Protection of Indians"	vernment and
1851-1852: CALIFORNIA'S RESPONSE TO FEDERAL TREATIES NEGOTIATED WI	TH THE
Indians	23
EARLY AND CURRENT FISH PROTECTION LAWS AND CALIFORNIA INDIANS.	25
APPENDIX 1 – ORIGINAL BILL MATERIAL PERTAINING TO CALIFORNIA STATU	ΓES,
1850 CHAPTER 133	27
APPENDIX 2 - ORIGINAL BILL MATERIAL PERTAINING TO CALIFORNIA STATUT	Γ <b>E</b> S
1860, Chapter 231	31
APPENDIX 3 - COURT OF SESSIONS	41
APPENDIX 4 – 1861 INDIAN ARTICLE OF INDENTURE	43
ENDNOTES	47

### **Executive Summary**

Did the State of California enact laws that prohibited California Indians from practicing their religion, speaking their languages or practicing traditional ceremonies and customs? Senator John L. Burton requested that the California Research Bureau research this question.<sup>1</sup>

The initial investigation and research contained in this report<sup>2</sup> led to a focus on four examples of early State of California laws and policies that significantly impacted the California Indians' way of life:

- The 1850 Act for the Government and Protection of Indians and related amendments;
- California militia policies and "Expeditions against the Indians" during 1851 to 1859;
- The State of California's official response to federal treaties negotiated with California Indians during 1851 to 1852; and
- Early and current state fish protection laws that exempt California Indians from related prohibitions.

The 1850 Act for the Government and Protection of Indians facilitated removing California Indians from their traditional lands, separating at least a generation of children and adults from their families, languages, and cultures (1850 to 1865). This California law provided for "apprenticing" or indenturing Indian children and adults to Whites, and also punished "vagrant" Indians by "hiring" them out to the highest bidder at a public auction if the Indian could not provide sufficient bond or bail.

The California Legislature created the laws that controlled California Indians' land, lives and livelihoods, while enforcement and implementation occurred at the county and local township levels. Some examples include:

- County-level Courts of Sessions and local township Justices of the Peace determined which Indians and Indian children were "apprenticed" or indentured pursuant to the 1850 Act for the Government and Protection of Indians.
- Under the same act, Justices of the Peace, mayors or recorders of incorporated towns or cities, decided the status and punishment of "vagrant" Indians.
- Under the California Constitution and state militia laws, California governors ordered local sheriffs to organize the men to conduct the "Expeditions against the Indians."

From 1851 to 1859, the California Legislature passed twenty-seven laws that the State Comptroller relied upon in determining the total expenditures related to the Expeditions against the Indians. The total amount of claims submitted to the State of California Comptroller for these Expeditions against the Indians was \$1,293,179.20.

The California Legislature was involved in influencing the U.S. Senate's ratification process of the 18 treaties negotiated with California Indians during 1851 to 1852. These treaties were never ratified, and kept secret from 1852 until 1905. Prior to the President submitting the treaties to the Senate are California Legislature conducted considerable debate, made reports, drafted and passed resolutions that mostly opposed ratification of the treaties.

The California Legislature also enacted laws during the first fifteen years of statehood that accommodated Indian tribes' traditional fishing practices. California laws exist today that continue to protect fish and exempt California Indians from related prohibitions.

## The First California Constitution, Suffrage and the California Indians

The creation of the first California Constitution and its governing framework set the stage for early laws related to California's justice system, and California Indians.

In late 1849, the delegates to the California Constitutional Convention met to form the first constitution of California. At the Convention, the delegates debated the issue of whether California Indians should have the right to vote. A minority advocated that the Indians should have the right to vote, as was recognized by the prior Mexican regime, especially if the Indians were going to be taxed. The minority delegates cited principles in the Declaration of Independence declaring that taxation and representation go together. However, other delegates in the majority argued that certain influential white persons who controlled Indians would "march hundreds [of wild Indians] up to the polls" to cast votes in compliance with such persons' wishes.

In the end, the majority prevailed and the Convention agreed to the following constitutional provisions regarding suffrage and California Indians:

Every white male citizen of the United States, and every white male citizen of Mexico, who shall have elected to become a citizen of the United States, under the treaty of peace exchanged and ratified at Queretaro, on the 30<sup>th</sup> day of May, 1848, of the age of twenty-one years, who shall have been a resident of the State six months...shall be entitled to vote at all elections which are now or hereafter may be authorized by law:

Provided, that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent the Legislature, by a two thirds concurrent vote, from admitting to the right of suffrage, Indians or the descendants of Indians, in such special cases as such a proportion of the legislative body may deem just and proper.<sup>4</sup>

The California Legislature never passed legislation that allowed California Indians to vote.

In 1870, Congress ratified the 15<sup>th</sup> Amendment of the U.S. Constitution affirming the right of all U.S. citizens to vote:

The right of citizens of the United States to vote shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or by any State on account of race, color, or previous conditions of servitude.

However, even after the 15<sup>th</sup> Amendment was ratified, most American Indians, including California Indians, did not have the right to vote until the federal Citizenship Act of 1924 was passed.<sup>5</sup>

# 1850: An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians

Soon after the creation of the California Constitution and before the U.S. Congress granted California statehood, the first California Legislature reviewed an important piece of Indian legislation: the first version failed to become law, the second version became law on the last day of the session.

The first California Legislature passed An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians on April 22, 1850. Initially introduced as Senate Bill No. 54 - An Act relative to the protection, punishment and government of Indians on March 16, 1850, by Senator Chamberlin, at the request of Senator Bidwell, Senate Bill No. 54 was "laid on the table," on March 30, and went no further in the legislative process.

On April 13, 1850, Assemblyman Brown introduced Assembly Bill No. 129, An Act for the government and protection of Indians. The Legislature passed the bill on April 19, after the Senate amended Section 16 to decrease the whipping punishment for Indians from 100 to 25 lashes. The Governor signed it into law on April 22,8 four months before California became the 31st state in the Union (on September 9, 1850). The Act for the Government and Protection of Indians was not repealed in its entirety until 1937.9

#### LOSS OF LANDS AND CULTURES

The 1850 Act and subsequent amendments<sup>10</sup> facilitated removing California Indians from their traditional lands, separating at least a generation of children and adults from their families, languages, and cultures (1850 to 1865), and indenturing Indian children and adults to Whites.\*

The relevant sections provided that:

- White persons or proprietors could apply to the Justice of the Peace for the removal of Indians from lands in the white person's possession.
- Any person could go before a Justice of the Peace to obtain Indian children for indenture.<sup>†</sup> The Justice determined whether or not compulsory means were used to obtain the child. If the Justice was satisfied that no coercion occurred, the person obtained a certificate that

<sup>\*</sup>All of the provisions contained in the initial Act of 1850 are described in Appendix 1, which also contains footnoted comparisons of the language contained in the enacted law and amendments, and original Assembly and Senate bill language that was not incorporated into the 1850 Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Webster's Dictionary defines "indenture" as a contract by which a person is bound to service. It is well known that the Hispanic missions in California that governed before the United States and the State of California, used forced Indian labor to build the missions and work in the surrounding agricultural lands.

authorized him to have the care, custody, control and earnings of an Indian minor, until their age of majority (for males, eighteen years, and females, fifteen years).

o If a convicted Indian was punished by paying a fine, any white person, with the consent of the Justice, could give bond for the Indian's fine and costs. In return, the Indian was "compelled to work until his fine was discharged or cancelled." The person bailing was supposed to "treat the Indian humanely, and clothe and feed him properly." The Court decided "the allowance given for such labor."

### ABSENCE OF LEGAL RIGHTS

In 1850 and 1851, the California Legislature enacted laws concerning crimes and punishments that prohibited Indians, or black or mulatto persons, from giving "evidence in favor of, or against, any white person." The 1850 statute defined an Indian as having one-half Indian blood. The 1851 statute defined an Indian as "having one fourth or more of Indian blood."

### **Inequitable Due Process**

The 1850 Act for the Government and Protection of Indians evidences further absence of legal rights for California Indians. The 1850 Act provided that:

- Justices of the Peace had jurisdiction in all cases of complaints related to Indians, without the ability of Indians to appeal at all, including to higher courts of record such as district courts or courts of sessions.
- While Indians or white persons could make complaints before a Justice of the Peace, "in no case [could] a white man be convicted of any offen[s]e upon the testimony of an Indian, or Indians."
- Justices of the Peace were to "instruct the Indians in their neighborhood in the laws which related to them." Any tribes or villages refusing or neglecting to obey the laws could be "reasonably chastised."
- o If an Indian committed "an unlawful offen[s]e against a white person," the person offended was not allowed to mete out the punishment. However, the offended white person could, without process, bring the Indian before the Justice of the Peace, and on conviction the Indian was punished.

<sup>\*</sup> The term "reasonably chastised" became a basis of a state policy empowering and paying the militia to attack Indians, as discussed in the next section.

#### Justices of the Peace

The first California Constitution provided that the "Legislature shall determine the number of Justices of the Peace, to be elected in each county, city, town, and incorporated village of the State, and fix by law their powers, duties, and responsibilities." <sup>12</sup>

In 1850, the first California Legislature provided that the jurisdiction of Justices of the Peace was limited to the township where they were elected.<sup>13</sup> Some of the powers and responsibilities conferred upon the first Justices of the Peace

- o authorized them to hear, try and determine civil cases when the amount claimed was \$200 or less (later raised to \$500 in 1853).
- o required them to take an oath and give a bond "in the penalty of five thousand dollars, conditioned for the faithful performance of [their] duties." 14
- o empowered them to be a magistrate, an "officer having power to issue a warrant for the arrest of a person charged with a public offence." 15

Throughout the period from 1850 into the 1860s, Justices of the Peace also presided over Justice Courts within their township jurisdictions. These courts were not courts of record, and had both civil and criminal jurisdiction to hear actions on

- o contracts for payment of money,
- o injuries to a person or taking or damaging personal property,
- statutory fines, penalties and forfeitures,
- o mining claims within their jurisdiction,
- petty larceny, assault and battery (if not committed on a public officer), and
- breaches of the peace, riots, and all misdemeanors punishable by fine not exceeding \$500 or imprisonment not exceeding three months, or both.

The Justice Courts also held proceedings related to "vagrants and disorderly persons." 17

#### Justices of the Peace for Indians

The first bill introduced related to the 1850 Act (Senate Bill No. 54) provided for Justices of the Peace for Indians, but it was not enacted. These Justices of the Peace were to be elected by the Indians directly, at the order and direction of the Court of Sessions. The

<sup>\*</sup> See Appendix 3 for discussion of the Court of Sessions.

bill provided that the Inspectors of Elections appointed by the Court "procure one or more interpreters to be at the polls during the election who shall ask every Indian who is entitled to vote, whom he prefers for Justice for the Indians the ensuing year, and his vote shall be recorded for the person he prefers." This language that created Justices of the Peace for Indians was not contained in the companion bill proposed by the Assembly, nor the final law enacted in 1850. (As previously discussed in an earlier section, the first California Constitution excluded Indians from the right to vote.)

### VAGRANCY AND PUNISHMENT UNDER "AN ACT FOR THE GOVERNMENT AND PROTECTION OF INDIANS"

Section 20 of the 1850 Act defined "vagrant" Indians and prescribed their punishment:

Any Indian able to work and support himself in some honest calling, not having wherewithal to maintain himself, who shall be found loitering and strolling about, or frequenting public places where liquors are sold, begging, or leading an immoral or profligate course of life, shall be liable to be arrested on the complaint of any resident citizen of the county, and brought before any Justice of the Peace of the proper county, Mayor or Recorder of any incorporated town or city, who shall examine said accused Indian, and hear the testimony in relation thereto, and if said Justice, Mayor, or Recorder shall be satisfied that he is a vagrant...he shall make out a warrant under his hand and seal, authorizing and requiring the officer having him in charge or custody, to hire out such vagrant within twenty-four hours to the best bidder, by public notice given as he shall direct, for the highest price that can be had, for any term not exceeding four materials.

Monies received from hiring such Indians, after deducting housing and clothing costs, were to be deposited into an "Indian fund" administered by the County Treasury (if he did not have a family). The "vagrant" Indian, after arrest but before judgment, could post a bond with a condition that for the next 12 months he would "conduct himself with good behavior, and betake some honest employment for support."<sup>20</sup>

### AMENDMENTS TO "AN ACT FOR THE GOVERNMENT AND PROTECTION OF INDIANS"

In 1855, Section 6 of the 1850 Act was amended to read "Complaints may be made before a Justice of the Peace, by white men or Indians, and in all cases arising under this Act, Indians shall be competent witnesses, their credibility being left with the jury." However, California legal treatises of the 1860s continued to cite the general civil procedure laws that excluded Indians from being witnesses at court as valid law. 22

In 1860, the California Legislature amended Sections Three and Seven of the 1850 Act. These amendments granted broad powers to county and district judges to, when requested, execute articles of indenture of apprenticeship on behalf of Indians. The 1860

amendments to the Act also provided that male Indian children under fourteen years could be indentured until they were twenty-five, and females under fourteen until they were twenty-one years old. If they were over fourteen but under twenty, males were indentured until they were thirty, and females until they were twenty-five years. Indians over twenty years old could be indentured for an additional ten years.<sup>23</sup> Due in part to a decade of state-financed expeditions against the Indians, there were many young Indian children without parents.

In 1863, Section Three of the 1850 Act was repealed. However, historical accounts drawn from primary sources indicate that this system of Indian indentured servitude continued, even after Section Three was repealed (see page 11).

In 1865, the California Supreme Court ruled that the section of the 1850 Act related to whipping was unconstitutional because the punishment was cruel and unusual.<sup>24</sup>

### HISTORICAL ACCOUNTS ABOUT INDENTURES, KIDNAPPING AND SELLING OF INDIANS

#### **Articles of Indenture**

I reviewed original indentures of Indians dated 1861, in the Sacramento County Archives.<sup>25</sup> The original text of one of the indentures follows:

In the Matter of the Indenture of...the Indian boy Bill (aged 15 years or thereabouts) to William Moorhead

To the Hon Robert Robinson County Judge of the City & County of Sacramento –

William Moorhead of the City & County of Sacramento in the State of California respectfully shows that he has an Indian boy called "Bill" under his control and management & that he has faithfully provided for said boy Bill for the last five years or thereabouts. That he formerly belonged to a Tribe called "Cottonwood" tribe in Shasta County in said State that the said boys [sic] parents, as petitioner is informed, and believes, have been dead for several years, and that the said boy has been living with petitioner in the City of Sacramento & working about petitioners [sic] livery stable. Petitioner further shows that he has provided said boy with all the necessaries of life & rendered him happy & contented.

Petitioner further shows that he has reason to believe & does believe that unless the said boy shall be apprenticed in accordance with the provisions of an act entitled "an act amendatory of an act entitled an act for the government and protection of Indians passed passed [sic] April 22, 1850" approved April 18, 1860 some persons will induce the said Indian boy to leave petitioner, & that he may become a vagrant, & addicted to dissolute habbits[sic].

Petitioner therefore prays that Indentures may be made in accordance with said act and the said boy forthwith apprenticed to petitioner until he shall attain the age of thirty years.<sup>26</sup>

The County Judge, Robert Robinson, approved and signed the document with the notation: "Boy indentured as provided by law."<sup>27</sup>

In 1971, Robert Heizer and Alan Almquist published the findings of their review of 114 indentures dated from 1860 to 1863, located in old county court files in Eureka, California. In addition to publishing the name, probable age, period of indenture and/or age indentured to, Heizer and Almquist summarize the data:

Ages of 110 persons indentured range from two to fifty, with a concentration of 49 persons between the ages of seven and twelve. Seven are listed as "taken in war" or prisoners of war"—this notation refers to children five, seven, nine, ten, and twelve years of age. Four children of ages eight, nine ten, and eleven are listed as "bought" or "given." Ten married couples were indentured, some of them with children. Three individuals seem almost too young to have been so treated—Perry, indentured in September 1860 at the age of three; George, indentured in January 1861 at the age of four; and Kitty (November 1861), also four years of age.<sup>28</sup>

Some of the indentures cited by Heizer and Almquist were made after the 1863 amendment that repealed Section 3 of the 1850 Act.<sup>29</sup>

Appendix 4 of this report is a copy of an article of indenture, located in the records of Humboldt County, published in the *Sacramento Daily Union* on February 4, 1861.

#### Accounts of Kidnapping and Selling of Indians

The following are accounts published in California newspapers as legal notices and articles from 1855 to 1864. These articles document incidents of kidnapping and selling of California Indian children.

Alta California - 1855

One of the most infamous practices known to modern times has been carried on for several months past against the aborigines of California. It has been the custom of certain disreputable persons to steal away young Indian boys and girls, and carry them off and sell them to white folks for whatever they could get. In order to do this, they are obliged in many cases to kill the parents, for low as they are on the scale of humanity, they [the Indians] have that instinctive love of their offspring which prompts them to defend them at the sacrifice of their lives.<sup>30</sup>

In the Fourth District Court yesterday...for the hearing of the return to the writ of *habeas corpus* issued to produce the body of Shasta, the Indian girl claimed by Dr. Wozencraft, Charlotte Sophie Gomez appeared...and made the following return as to the cause of her inability to produce Shasta:

"That an Indian child by the name of Isabella, not about eight years of age, has lived in her family since the month of June, 1852, at her residence in the city of San Francisco. That during the last three years, or thereabouts, the said child has attended the public day school in said city. That...Isabella has resided with...Gomez until last Monday. On that day, about five o'clock in the afternoon, a person presented himself at her residence and told her that said Indian child belonged to him, and wanted to take her away. Of this fact she was told by a member of her family...Gomez says she has no knowledge of the person who took the child from her house, nor does she know where she now is, or has been, since taken away therefrom..."

...It is the belief of Dr. Wozencraft that the girl, Isabella...is the one that has been stolen from him. He is most anxious to recover Shasta and will use every legal means to recover possession of her.<sup>31</sup>

Alta California - 1862

The *Ukiah Herald*, published in Mendocino county, has a long article upon the practice of Indian stealing so extensively carried on in that section of the country, and says that one woodman has been caught with sixteen young Indians in his possession, being about to take them out of the country for sale. The *Herald* says:

"Here is well known there are a number of men in this county, who have for years made it their profession to capture and sell Indians, the price ranging from \$30 to \$150, according to quality. Some hard stories are told of those engaged in the trade, in regard to the manner of the capture of the children. It is even asserted that there are men engaged in it who do not hesitate, when they find a rancheria well stocked with young Indians, to murder in cold blood all the old ones, in order that they may safely possess themselves of all the offspring." <sup>32</sup>

The Alta California comments at the end of the 1862 article that the Ukiah Herald account "affords a key to the history of border Indian troubles."

The next account is found in the journal of William H. Brewer, one of the members of the original California Geological Survey mandated by the California Legislature in 1860.<sup>33</sup> Brewer traveled throughout California from 1860 to 1864, providing official reports under the survey.

The Indian wars now going on, and those which have been for the last three years in the counties of Klamath, Humboldt, and Mendocino, have most of their origin in this. It has for years been a regular business to steal Indian children and bring them down to the civilized parts of the state, even to San Francisco, and sell them – not as slaves, but as servants to be kept as long as possible. Mendocino County has been the scene of many of these stealings, and it is said that some of the kidnappers would often get the consent of the parents by shooting them to prevent opposition.<sup>34</sup>

### Early California Apprenticeship and Vagrancy Laws

Apprenticeship and vagrancy laws and policies related to the general population existed in California during the first two decades of statehood. However, they were enacted after the 1850 Act related to California Indians, and the penalties under these laws were less severe when applied to the non-Indian population.

An 1853 California legal treatise entitled A Treatise on the Practice of the Courts of the State of California, Carefully Adapted to Existing Law, first mentions apprenticeship and minors when describing exceptions to the general rule that minors could not make a contract:

[T]here are two exceptions to the general rule that minors cannot contract. The one case is contracts for apprenticeship. Minors can bind themselves as apprentices for seven years by deed, if the seven years are within their maturity. The other case is in contracts for necessaries. What are necessaries is frequently a question hard to resolve. What would be necessaries for one, would not be for another. Necessary boarding, clothing, and lodging, and medical attendance in sickness, tuition of necessary teachers – these are necessaries. The age and sex of the minor, the real station in society, property and business or vocation selected for life, all these things are necessarily involved in the question.<sup>35</sup>

### 1858 - AN ACT TO PROVIDE FOR BINDING MINORS AS APPRENTICES, CLERKS AND SERVANTS

The first apprenticeship law in California related to non-Indians, An Act to provide for Binding Minors as Apprentices, Clerks and Servants, was enacted in 1858, almost a decade after the 1850 Act. There were significant differences between the two laws. The 1858 Act excluded Indians (1/4 blood) from its provisions. The 1858 Act mandated that

- the indenture state every sum of money paid or agreed for in relation to the apprenticeship.<sup>37</sup>
- the person to whom a child was bound send the child to school three months of each year of the period of the indenture to learn to read, write and the general rules of arithmetic.<sup>38</sup>

The 1858 Act also provided that an indenture of apprenticeship could be annulled and voided in the event that a county court found

- fraud in the contract of indenture.
- the contract was not made or signed pursuant to the law.
- willful nonfulfillment of the indenture provisions by the master.

• cruelty or maltreatment of the apprentice by the master, without cause or provocation.<sup>39</sup>

In 1865, Congress ratified the 13<sup>th</sup> Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. The states had to comply with the newly ratified amendment abolishing slavery and involuntary servitude:

Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as punishment for crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction.

### 1855 – AN ACT TO PUNISH VAGRANTS, VAGABONDS, AND DANGEROUS AND SUSPICIOUS PERSONS

The first vagrancy law of California that applied to others was passed April 30, 1855. The penalties under the law were less severe than the penalties imposed against Indians under the 1850 Act. The 1855 Act provided that

All persons except Digger Indians, who have no visible means of living, who in ten days do not seek employment, nor labor when employment is offered to them, all healthy beggars, who travel with written statements of their misfortunes, all persons who roam about from place to place without any lawful business, all lewd and dissolute persons who live in and about houses of Ill-Fame; all common prostitutes and common drunkards may be committed to jail and sentenced to hard labor for such time as the Court, before whom they are convicted shall think proper, not exceeding ninety days.<sup>40</sup>

The law did not define "Digger Indians." The Justice of the Peace enforced the vagrancy laws, and the county Board of Supervisors determined the type of labor the convicted person was to perform.<sup>41</sup>

In 1863, the California Legislature amended the law to exempt California Indians from the provisions of the 1855 Act.<sup>42</sup> The vagrancy provisions contained in the 1850 Act relating to the California Indians (previously described) were not repealed until 1937.

# 1850 - 1859: California Militia and "Expeditions Against the Indians"

That a war of extermination will continue to be waged between the races, until the Indian race becomes extinct, must be expected. While we cannot anticipate this result but with painful regret, the inevitable destiny of the race is beyond the power or wisdom of man to avert.

Governor Peter H. Burnett, January 7, 1851<sup>43</sup>

#### THE GOVERNORS AND THE MILITIA

Article VII of the first California Constitution gave the Governor the power "to call for the militia, to execute the laws of the State, to suppress insurrections, and repel invasions." In his annual address to the California Legislature on January 7, 1851, Governor Burnett highlighted significant events that transpired during 1850, including "repeated calls...upon the Executive for the aid of the militia to resist and punish the attacks of the Indians upon the frontier." During 1850, Governor Burnett called out the militia two times. The first order was prompted by incidents at the confluence of the Gila and Colorado rivers on April 23, 1850; in response, the Governor ordered the sheriffs of San Diego and Los Angeles to organize a total of 100 men to "pursue such energetic measures to punish the Indians, bring them to terms, and protect the emigrants on their way to California." The second instance occurred in October 1850, when Governor Burnett ordered the sheriff of El Dorado County to muster 200 men. The commanders were instructed to "proceed to punish the Indians engaged in the late attacks in the vicinity of Ringgold, and along the emigrant trail leading from Salt Lake to California."

Governor Burnett explained calling out the militia as follows:

In these cases the [Indian] attacks were far more formidable, and made at point where the two great emigrant trails enter the State...occurred at a period when the emigrants were arriving across the plains with their jaded and broken down animals, and them destitute of provisions. Under these circumstances, I deemed it due to humanity, and to our brethren arriving among us in a condition so helpless, to afford them all the protection within the power of the State...

Had it been once known to our fellow citizens east of the Rocky Mountains, that the Indians were most hostile and formidable on the latter and more difficult portion of the route...and that the State of California would render no assistance to parties so destitute, the emigration of families to the State across the plains would have been greatly interrupted and retarded.<sup>48</sup>

From 1997 to 1999, the Sacramento Genealogical Society researched and compiled an extensive index of the State Militia Muster Rolls located in the California State

Archives.<sup>49</sup> The California State Archives contain Muster Rolls or organizational documents for 303 units located in most California counties. Seventy-one of the militias were located in San Francisco.<sup>50</sup> After exhaustive review and crosschecking of 70,000 registered names, the researchers determined that approximately 35,000 men were listed on the Muster Rolls (attendance records).<sup>51</sup>

From the state archival record, it is impossible to determine exactly the total number of units and men engaged in attacks against the California Indians. However, during the period of 1850 to 1859, the official record does verify that the governors of California called out the militia on "Expeditions against the Indians" on a number of occasions, and at considerable expense, as Tables 1 and 2 indicate.

Table 1

"General Recapitulation of the
Expenditures incurred by the State of California

For the Subsistence and Pay of the Troops, composing of the different Military Expeditions, ordered out by the Governor, during the Years 1850, 1851 and 1852,

For the Protection of the Lives and Property of her Citizens, and for the Suppression of Indian Hostilities within her Borders."

Expeditions Against the Indians	Amount
Mariposa and Monterey	\$259, 372.31
First El Dorado	101.861.65
Second El Dorado	199,784.59
Los Angeles and Utah	96,184.60
Trinity, Klamath and Clear Lake	34,320.08
San Diego "Fitzgerald Volunteers"	22,581.00
Siskiyou "Volunteer Rangers"	14, 987.00
Gila "Colorado Volunteers"	113,482.25
Amount paid in War Bonds by Paymasters	1,000.00
Total Amount	\$843,573.48

Source: Comptroller of the State of California, Expenditures for Military Expeditions Against Indians, 1851-1859, (Sacramento: The Comptroller). Secretary of State. California State Archives. Located at "Roster" Comptroller No. 574. Vault. Bin 393.

California Research Bureau. California State Library

<sup>\*</sup> Muster Rolls may exist in other county or local archival repositories. The California State Archives does not have Muster Rolls for Colusa, Fresno. Glenn. Imperial, Inyo. Kern, Kings, Lake, Madera, Mendocino, Merced, Modoc, Riverside. San Benito, and Ventura counties for the period 1851 to 1866.

#### THE CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE AND THE MILITIA

In April 1850, the California Legislature enacted two laws: An Act concerning Volunteer or Independent Companies,<sup>52</sup> and An Act concerning the organization of the Militia.<sup>53</sup> The Volunteer Act provided that citizens of any one county could:

- organize into a volunteer or independent company;
- arm and equip themselves in the same manner as the army of the United States;
- prepare muster rolls (attendance records) twice a year; and
- render prompt assistance and full obedience when summoned or commanded under the law.<sup>54</sup>

The lengthy Militia Act established in great detail the organization, ranks, rules, duties and commutation fees (fees in lieu of service) that governed state military service. All "free, white, able-bodied male citizens, between the ages of eighteen and forty-five years, residing in [the] State" were subject to state-mandated military duty.<sup>55</sup> Important provisions relating to the delegation of authority to command and call out troops provided that:

- the Governor was the commander in chief of all the forces in the state:
- the Legislature elected four Major Generals, eight Brigadier Generals, one Adjutant General and Quarter Master General (with Brigadier General rank);
- the Governor commissioned all of the officers under the Act, who then took the oath of office prescribed by the California Constitution;
- the State Treasurer initially was the ex officio Pay Master; and
- upon the Governor's orders, the Sheriffs of each county were responsible to call the enrolled militia.<sup>56</sup>

In 1851, two laws set the rates of pay for the troops.<sup>57</sup> As shown in Table 2, Federal authorities considered the rates exorbitant in comparison to compensation to federal troops.\*

<sup>\*</sup> The 1850 Volunteer Act and Militia Act were repealed and replaced in 1855, and amended in 1856 and 1857. The National Guard replaced the California Militia in 1866. 1855 Cal. Stat. ch. 115; 1856 Cal. Stat. ch. 87; 1857 Cal. Stat. 344; 1866 Cal. Stat. ch. 541; Sacramento Geneaological Society. California State Militia, ii.

Table 2 details the State's expenditures for expeditions from 1854 to 1859.

Table 2

Expeditions Named in the Act of Appropriations by Congress made March 2, 1861				
Expedition	Year	Amount Allowed by California*	Amount Allowed by United States**	Amount Disallowed by United States
Shasta Expedition	1854	4,068.64	1,261.38	2,807.26
Siskiyou Expedition	1855	14, 036.36	6,146.60	7,889.76
Klamath & Humboldt Expedition	1855	99,096.65	61,537.48	37,559.17
San Bernardino Expedition	1855	817.03	419.99	397.04
Klamath Expedition	1856	6,190.07	2953.77	3,237.30
Modoc Expedition	1856	188,324.22	80,436.72	107,887.50
Tulare Expedition	1856	12,732.23	3,647.25	9,084.98
Klamath & Humboldt Expedition	1858 & 1859	52,184.45	31,823.94	20,360.51
Pitt River Expedition	1859	72,156.09	41,761.54	30,394.5
	Total	\$449,605.74	\$229,987.67	\$219,618.0

Source: Comptroller of the State of California, Expenditures for Military Expeditions Against Indians, 1851-1859, (Sacramento: The Comptroller), Secretary of State, California State Archives, Located at "Roster" Comptroller No. 574, Vault, Bin 393.

Table 3 sets forth the twenty-seven California laws that the State Comptroller relied upon in determining the total expenditures recapitulated in the official report. The total amount of claims submitted to State of California Comptroller for Expeditions against the Indians was \$1,293,179.20.

<sup>\*</sup>Amount submitted to the United States for reimbursement.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Amount actually paid by the United States.

Table 3

Statute Statute Statute Statute Joint Resolution Joint Resolution Joint Resolution	1851 1851 1851 1851 1851 1851	Page       489       402       520       530       532	Description of Act or Joint Resolution  Creating William Foster & William Rogers Pay Masters  Creating James Burney Pay Master to pay Troops To negotiate a loan for the War Fund \$500,000 To Establish Forts on our Borders  Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll  Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Statute Statute Joint Resolution Joint Resolution	1851 1851 1851 1851 1851	402 520 530 532 534	Masters Creating James Burney Pay Master to pay Troops To negotiate a loan for the War Fund \$500,000 To Establish Forts on our Borders Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Statute Joint Resolution Joint Resolution Joint Resolution	1851 1851 1851 1851	520 530 532 534	Creating James Burney Pay Master to pay Troops To negotiate a loan for the War Fund \$500,000 To Establish Forts on our Borders Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Statute Joint Resolution Joint Resolution Joint Resolution	1851 1851 1851 1851	520 530 532 534	To negotiate a loan for the War Fund \$500,000  To Establish Forts on our Borders  Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll  Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Joint Resolution Joint Resolution Joint Resolution	1851 1851	530 532 534	To Establish Forts on our Borders  Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll  Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Joint Resolution  Joint Resolution	1851	532	Directing Adjutant General to enter names on Muster Roll  Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Joint Resolution	1851	534	Muster Roll  Reference to the payment of claims and informal
Joint Resolution	1851		transfers in writing
		535	Reference to the payment of certain claims in the Gila Expedition
Joint Resolution	1851	538	Authorizing the Pay Master of the Gila Expedition to pay claims
Joint Resolution	1851	539	For the Benefit of the Citizens of Los Angeles County
Statute	1852	59	Authorizing the Treasurer to issue Bonds for \$600,000
Statute	1852	61	Authorizing and requiring Board of Examiners to settle with William Rogers
Statute	1852	250	For the relief of James S. Bolen
Statute	1852	261	For the relief of Jacob C. Kore
Statute	1852	262	For the relief of John G. Warrin
Statute	1853	79	For the relief of Thomas A. Wilton, M.D.
Statute	1853	95	To pay troops under Captain Wright S. McDermott \$23,000
Statute	1853	97	For the relief of Beverly C. Sanders
Statute	1853	130	For the relief of John C. Johnson
Statute	1853	134	Additional War Fund \$23,000
Statute	1853	154	For the relief of A.D. Blanchard and Samuel Stephens
Statute	1853	177	Secretary of State constituted one of the Board of Examiners
Statute	1853	177	Providing for the pay and compensation of Major James Burney
Statute	1853	200	For the relief of John Brown \$1,150
Statute	1853	225	Payment of the Fitzgerald Volunteers
Statute	1853	268	For the relief of John W. Jackson
Joint Resolution	1853	310	General Statement of War Debt to be made out
Statute	1854	171	For the relief of Powell Weaver

Source: Comptroller of the State of California. Expenditures for Military Expeditions Against Indians, 1851-1859, (Sacramento: The Comptroller), Secretary of State, California State Archives. Located at "Roster" Comptroller No. 574, Vault, Bin 393.

### 1860: THE LEGISLATURE'S MAJORITY AND MINORITY REPORTS ON THE MENDOCINO WAR

In 1860, the California Legislature created a Joint Special Committee on the Mendocino Indian War to investigate incidents of Indian stealing and killing of settlers' stock, and alleged atrocities committed by whites against the Indians.\*

The Joint Special Committee traveled throughout Mendocino County and adjacent locations taking depositions and testimony of prominent settlers in the region. This testimony is part of the official public record, along with the committee's majority and minority reports about the events.

### The Majority Report of the Joint Special Committee

O'Farrell, Dickinson, Maxon and Phelps were authors of the Majority Report. The following are excerpts of the majority's findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

In Mendocino County...the Indians have committed extensive depredations on the stock of the settlers...The result has been that the citizens, for the purpose of protection to their property, have pursued the tribes supposed to be guilty to their mountain retreats, and in most cases have punished them severely. Repeated stealing and killing of stock, and an occasional murder of a white man, has caused a repetition of the attacks upon the offenders with the same results. The conflict still exists; Indians continue to kill cattle as a means of subsistence, and the settlers in retaliation punish with death. Many of the most respectable citizens of Mendocino County have testified before your committee that they kill Indians, found in what they consider the hostile districts, whenever they lose cattle or horses; nor do they attempt to conceal or deny this fact. Those citizens do not admit, nor does it appear by the evidence, that it is or has been their practice or intention to kill women or children, although some have fallen in the indiscriminate attacks of the Indian rancherias. The testimony shows that in the recent authorized expedition against the Indians in said county, the women and children were taken to the reservations, and also establishes the fact that in the private expeditions this rule was not observed, but that in one instance, an expedition was marked by the most horrid atrocity; but in justice to the citizens of Mendocino County, your committee say that the mass of the settlers look upon such act with the utmost abhorrence...

<sup>\*</sup> The Joint Special Committee was comprised of Jasper O'Farrell (Sonoma, Marin, Mendocino), and W.B. Dickinson (El Dorado), as the Senate Committee. Joseph B. Lamar (Mendocino, Sonoma), William B. Maxon (San Mateo) and Abner Phelps (San Francisco) comprised the House Committee. Don A. Allen. Legislative Sourcebook: The California Legislature and Reapportionment, 1849-1965, (Sacramento: Assembly of the State of California, 1965), 364, 374, 450, 456.

Accounts are daily coming in from the counties on the Coast Range, of sickening atrocities and wholesale slaughters of great numbers of defenseless Indians in that region of country. Within the last four months, more Indians have been killed by our people than during the century of Spanish and Mexican domination. For an evil of this magnitude, some one is responsible. Either our government, or our citizens, or both, are to blame...

The pre-existing laws and policy of Mexico, as to the *status* of the Indian, need not have interfered with the views to be taken by our government. Mexico protected the Indian, in her own way, much more effectually than we have done. The very land upon which the aborigines of this State have dwelt, as far back as traditions reach, has been allowed by our government to be occupied by settlers, who thus have the authority of law for a forced occupation of the Indian country. A natural, humane, and proper policy would have protected the Indian in his undeniable rights to the hunting grounds of his forefathers, and would have prevented our border men from entering into a conflict which has cost both lives and property...

Your committee do [sic] not think that the wrongs committed upon the Indians of California are chargeable alone to the Federal Government. The evidence appended to this report, disclose facts, from the contemplation of which the mind of peaceful citizens recoil with horror, and prompts the inquiry, if such outrages upon the defenseless are permitted by the proper authorities to go unpunished?

No provocation has been shown, if any could be, to justify such acts. We must admit that the wrong has been the portion of the Indian—the blame with his white brother.

The question resolves itself to this: Shall the Indians be exterminated, or shall they be protected? If the latter, that protection must come from the Federal Government, in the form of adequate appropriations of money and land; and secondly, from this State, by strictly enforcing penal statutes for any infringement upon the rights of Indians.

In relation to the recent difficulty between the whites and Indians in Mendocino County, your committee desire to say that no war, or a necessity for a war, has existed, or at the present time does exist. We are unwilling to attempt to dignify, by the term "war" as slaughter of beings, who at least possess human form, and who make no resistance, and make no attacks, either on the person or residence of the citizen. <sup>58</sup>

The authors of the Majority Report recommended that the California Legislature pass "a law for the better protection of the Indians of California." <sup>59</sup>

### The Minority Report of the Special Joint Committee

Lamar authored the Minority Report and dissented fundamentally from the majority's view of the events, and their recommendations. Lamar stated, "the testimony will disclose the guilty parties, and from the just indignation of outraged humanity I have no desire to screen them; but for the mass of citizens engaged in this Indian warfare, I claim that they have acted from the strongest motives that govern human action—the defense of life and property."

Lamar further stated that certain tribes living outside of reservations in the region were "domesticated Indians," a great number of whom were employed by settlers, receiving "liberal compensation for their labor." Lamar proposed the following general Indian policy that the State should pursue.

The General Government should first cede to the State of California the entire jurisdiction over Indians and Indian affairs within our borders, and make such donations of land and other property and appropriations of money as would be adequate to make proper provision for the necessities of a proper management.

The State should, then, adopt a general system of peonage or apprenticeship, for the proper disposition and distribution of the Indians by families among responsible citizens. General laws should be passed regulating the relations between the master and servant, and providing for the punishment of any meddlesome interference on the part of third parties. In this manner the whites might be provided with profitable and convenient servants, and the Indians with the best protection and all the necessaries of life in permanent and comfortable homes.<sup>62</sup>

### The Mendocino War Reports and the 1860 Amendment to "An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians"

On January 19, 1860, the first version of Assembly Bill No. 65, entitled "An Act amendatory of an Act for the Government and Protection of Indians" was introduced in the California Legislature. Assembly Bill No. 65 proposed broader apprenticeship laws than those contained in the 1850 Act. Various amendments and substitute versions of the bill found in the California State Archives Original Bill File appear to reflect the degree of debate surrounding Indian prisoners of war from expeditions, Lamar's proposed Indian policies, and more expansive Indian apprenticeship laws. Transcriptions of the proposed versions of the bill, and the original enrolled version are contained in Appendix 2 of this report.

# 1851-1852: California's Response to Federal Treaties Negotiated with the Indians

Among the more immediate causes that have precipitated this state of [frontier hostilities], may be mentioned the neglect of the General Government to make treaties with [the Indians] for their lands. We have suddenly spread ourselves over the country in every direction, and appropriated whatever portion of it we pleased to ourselves, without their consent, and without compensation.

Governor Peter H. Burnett, January 7, 1851<sup>64</sup>

From 1851 through early 1852, the U.S. Indian Commissioners, acting on behalf of the United States, negotiated 18 treaties with California Indian tribes. A number of aspects surrounding the negotiations were fraught with problems and controversy, in large part due to the ambiguous scope of authority delegated to the Commissioners by the federal government, and inadequate appropriations provided to carry out their job. The treaties negotiated by the Indian Commissioners reserved to the Indians approximately 11,700 square miles, or about 7.5 million acres of land. The total amount represented seven and a half percent of the State of California.

At the beginning of the 1852 California legislative session, the Legislature recognized the value of the land represented in the treaties and appointed committees to prepare joint resolutions and committee reports to recommend how California's U.S. Senators should proceed regarding the ratification of the treaties.<sup>67</sup> The Special Committee on the Disposal of Public Land summed up the views opposing ratification of the treaties in its report on the public domain:

Your memorialists feel assured, from all the facts which are daily transpiring, and the state of public feeling throughout the mines, that if those treaties are ratified, without any sufficient amendments to alter their permanent disposition of the public domain, it will be utterly impossible to prevent the continued collisions between the miners and the Indians. It will not be owing to any objection of the former to the mining of the Indians in the placers; but it will be caused by the exclusive privileges attempted to be secured for Indians, to the mines always heretofore open to the labors of the white man.<sup>68</sup>

Instead of the treaty provisions, the Special Committee proposed a system of missions for the Indians that included

[A]nnuities to be paid in provisions and clothing...a parcel of land to be assigned...sufficient for them to cultivate, and with every laudable means to be used to induce them to do so. Their stock of every description should be protected by law, and have the same privileges of grazing with that of our own. To the Indians, should not be denied the right of hunting,

nor that of digging peaceably in the mines, under the same regulations which we observe.

The Indians who are now residing on private lands, with the consent of the owners, or engaged in cultivating their soil, should not be disturbed in their position... They are already in the best school of civilization... The adoption of this plan would obviate the contemplated permanent disposal of a large portion of our mineral and arable land [to the Indians]. 69

In mid-March 1852, the California Assembly (35 to 6) and Senate (19 to 4) voted to submit resolutions opposing the ratification of the treaties to California's U.S. Senators.<sup>70</sup>

The President submitted the treaties to the U.S. Senate on June 1, 1852. On June 7, the Senate read the President's message, and referred the treaties to the Committee on Indian Affairs. The treaties were then considered and rejected by the U.S. Senate in secret session. The treaties did not reappear in the public record until January 18, 1905, after an injunction of secrecy was removed.<sup>71</sup>

# Early and Current Fish Protection Laws and California Indians

In 1852, the California Legislature enacted An Act to prohibit the erection of Weirs, or other obstructions, to the run of Salmon. The Act prohibited any weir, dam, fence, set or stop net or obstruction to the run of salmon in any river or stream in the State. The Act also provided an important exception for California Indian tribes:

This Act shall not apply to any of the Indian tribes, so as in any manner to preclude them from fishing in accordance with the custom heretofore practiced by them.<sup>72</sup> [emphasis added]

The original bill, Senate Bill No. 80 was introduced by Senator Hubbs on March 13, read a first and second time and referred to the Committee on Commerce and Navigation.<sup>73</sup> The first version of the original bill made no reference to Indian tribes. However, the Committee recommended the amendment related to Indian tribes that became law.<sup>74</sup>

The following Table 4 lists some examples of California laws related to fish that have accommodated Indian tribes' practices in the past and today.

Table 4

California Laws Related to Fish and California Indians			
Date	Law	Title	
1852	1852 Cal. Stat. ch. 62	An act to prohibit the erection of Weirs, or other obstructions, to the run of Salmon	
1854	1854 Cal. Stat. ch. 70	Amendment to An act to prohibit the erection of Weirs, or other obstructions, to the run of Salmon	
1866	1866 Cal. Stat. ch. 404	An Act for the preservation of trout in the Counties of San Mateo and Santa Clara	
1951	1951 Cal. Stat. ch. 1486	An act to add Section 429.8 to the Fish and Game Code, relating to the taking of fish by members of the Yurok Indian Tribe	
1955	1955 Cal. Stat. ch. 389	An act to add Section 1418 to the Fish and Game Code, relating to hunting and fishing rights of California Indians	
1961	1961 Cal. Stat. ch. 963	An act to amend Section 12300 of the Fish and Game Code, relating to Indians	
2002	CAL FISH & GAME CODE §7155 (1994)	Right of members of Yurok Indian tribe to take fish from Klamath River	
2002	CAL FISH & GAME CODE §123000 (1994)	Application of code to California Indians	

### California Fish & Game Code §123000 currently provides that:

Irrespective of any other provision of law, the provisions of this code are not applicable to California Indians whose names are inscribed upon the tribal rolls, while on the reservation of such tribe and under those circumstances in this State where the code was not applicable to them immediately prior to the effective date of Public Law 280, Chapter 505, First Session, 1953, 83d of Congress of the United States. No such Indian shall be prosecuted for the violation of any provision of this code occurring in the places and under the circumstances hereinabove referred to. Nothing in this section, however, prohibits or restricts the prosecution of any Indian for the violation of any provision of this code prohibiting the sale of any bird, mammal, fish, or amphibia.

# Appendix 1 – Original Bill Material Pertaining to California Statutes, 1850 Chapter 133

This Appendix is based on a review of the enacted laws published in the *Statutes of California*, *First Session of the Legislature*, 1849-1850, and the Original Bill File, Chapter 133, 1850, California Secretary of State, State Archives, Location E6553, Box 1. Copies of the original documents and the transcript of the contents of Original Bill File are on file with the California Research Bureau.

The following is a combined comparison of the provisions contained in California Statutes, Chapter 133, Entitled "An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians" and the proposed bills contained in the Original Bill File. The notable differences in enacted law and proposed bill language is described in the annotated footnotes.

- Section 1. Justices of the Peace had jurisdiction in all cases of complaints "by, for, or against Indians."
- Section 2. Persons or proprietors of lands where Indians resided were to permit the Indians to peaceably and unmolested live "in the pursuit of their usual avocations for the maintenance of themselves and families." Provided:
  - o White persons or proprietors could apply to the Justice of the Peace to "set off to such Indians a certain amount of land...a sufficient amount...for the necessary wants of such Indians, including the site of their village or residence, if they [the Indians] so prefer[red] it."
  - o In no case was "such selection [of land to] be made to the prejudice of such Indians," nor were the Indians to "be forced to abandon their homes or villages where they...resided for a number of years."

Senate Bill No. 54 introduced by Senator Chamberlin, at the request of Senator Bidwell, provided for Justices of the Peace for Indians. These Justices of the Peace were to be elected by the Indians directly, at the order and direction of the Court of Sessions. Pursuant to the language in the bill, the Court of Sessions provided Inspectors of Elections to discharge the same duties as county election inspectors. The bill also provided that the inspectors "procure one or more interpreters to be at the polls during the election who shall ask every Indian who is entitled to vote, whom he prefers for Justice for the Indians the ensuing year, and his vote shall be recorded for the person he prefers." This language was not contained in the bill proposed by the Assembly, nor the final law enacted in 1850.

<sup>\*</sup> Sections 5 through 7 of Senate Bill 54 contained similar language but gave the issues in this section more comprehensive treatment than what appears in the enacted law. Bill No. 54: 1) permitted Indians "and their descendents" to reside on such lands; 2) defined "usual avocations" as "hunting. fishing. gathering seeds and acorns for the maintainance [sic] of themselves and families;" and 3) stated that "in no case shall [I]ndians be forced to abandon their village sites where they have lived from time immemorial." Emphasis added.

- Either party feeling aggrieved could appeal the Justice of the Peace's decision to the County Court.
- Section 3. "Any person having or hereafter obtaining a minor Indian, male or female, from the parents or relations of such Indian minor, and wishing to keep it...shall go before a Justice of the Peace in his Township, with the parents or friends of the child, and if the Justice of the Peace becomes satisfied that no compulsory means have been used to obtain the child from its parents or friends, shall enter on record, in a book kept for that purpose, the sex and probable age of the child, and shall give to such person a certificate, authorizing him or her to have the care, custody, control and earnings of such minor, until he or she obtain the age of majority. Every male Indian shall be deemed to have attained his majority at eighteen, and the female at fifteen years." (Original text with emphasis added)
- Section 4. A person that neglected to "clothe or suitably feed...or inhumanly" treated a minor Indian in his care, could be fined not less than ten dollars, if convicted. The Justice of the Peace could place the minor Indian "in the care of some other person, giving him the same rights and liabilities that the former master...was entitled and subject to."
- Section 5. "Any person wishing to hire an Indian [had to] go before the Justice of the Peace with the Indian and make such contract as the Justice may approve." The Justice filed the written contract in his office. The contract was binding between the parties; "but no contract between a white man and an Indian, for labor [was] otherwise...obligatory on the part of the Indian."
- Section 6. Indians or white persons could make complaints before a Justice of the Peace. However, "in no case [could] a white man be convicted of any offen[s]e upon the testimony of an Indian, or Indians."
- Section 7. Any person convicted of forcibly "conveying" an Indian from his home or compelling an Indian to work against his will, would be fined at least fifty dollars.

<sup>\*</sup> The original Assembly Bill 129 defined the age of majority for a male Indian at twenty years, and for a female at seventeen years, but was lined out and changed to the ages contained in Section 9 of Senate Bill 54. Also, Section 8 of Senate Bill 54 mandated that the "name (if any) given by the person taking the child" was also to be included in the Justice of the Peace's record book. This language is absent from any version of the Assembly bill or the law.

<sup>†</sup> Section 12 of Senate Bill 54 made the fine to be not less than 50 nor more than 200 hundred dollars. This section also provided that the minor Indian could "return to his or her parents or relatives," language absent from the enacted law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> This section is absent from Senate Bill 54.

- Sections 8 and 18. Justices of the Peace were required every six months to report all moneys and fines collected to the county Court of Sessions and pay them over to the Treasurer, who was to keep the monies in an "Indian fund."
- Sections 9. Justices of the Peace were to "instruct the Indians in their neighborhood in the laws which related to them." Any tribes or villages refusing or neglecting to obey the laws could be reasonably chastised.
- Section 10. Any person was subject to fine or punishment if they set the prairie on fire, or refused "to use proper exertions to extinguish the fire."
- Sections 11 13. If an Indian committed "an unlawful offen[s]e against a white person," the person offended was not allowed to mete out the punishment. However, the offended white person could, without process, bring the Indian before the Justice of the Peace, and on conviction the Indian was punished according to provisions in the Act. Justices could require "chiefs and influential men of any village to apprehend and bring before them any Indian charged or suspected of an offen[s]e."
- Section 14. If a convicted Indian was punished by paying a fine, any white
  person, with the consent of the Justice, could give bond for the Indian's fine
  and costs. In return, the Indian was "compelled to work until his fine was
  discharged or cancelled. The person bailing was supposed to "treat the Indian
  humanely, and clothe and feed him properly." The Court decided "the
  allowance given for such labor."
- Section 15. Anyone convicted of providing intoxicating liquors to an Indian was fined not less than 20 dollars.
- Sections 16-17. An Indian convicted of stealing horse, mules, cattle or "any valuable thing," could receive 25 lashes with a whip or be fined up to 200 dollars. The punishment was at the discretion of the Court or a jury. The Justice could appoint a white man or an Indian to whip the Indian, but was not to permit "unnecessary cruelty" in executing the sentence.
- Section 19. If a white person made an application to a Justice of the Peace for confirmation of a "contract with or in relation to an Indian," had to pay two dollars per each contract determination.

The original language of this section was changed from "Indian" to "any person" in the final version of AB 129.

Section 20. Any Indian able to work and support himself in some honest calling, not having wherewithal to maintain himself, who shall be found loitering and strolling about, or frequenting public places where liquors are sold, begging, or leading an immoral or profligate course of life, shall be liable to be arrested on the complaint of any resident citizen of the county, and brought before any Justice of the Peace of the proper county, Mayor or Recorder of any incorporated town or city, who shall examine said accused Indian, and hear the testimony in relation thereto, and if said Justice, Mayor, or Recorder shall be satisfied that he is a vagrant...he shall make out a warrant under his hand and seal, authorizing and requiring the officer having him in charge or custody, to hire out such vagrant within twenty-four hours to the best bidder, by public notice given as he shall direct, for the highest price that can be had, for any term not exceeding four months; and such vagrant shall be subject to and governed by the provisions of this Act, regulating guardians and minors, during the time which he has been so hired. The money received for his hire, shall, after deducting the costs, and the necessary expense for clothing for said Indian, which may have been purchased by his employer, be, if he be without a family, paid into the County Treasury, to the credit of the Indian fund. But if he have a family, the same shall be appropriated for their use and benefit: Provided, that any such vagrant, when arrested, and before judgment, may relieve himself by giving to such Justice, May, or Recorder, a bond, with good security, conditioned that he will, for the next twelve months, conduct himself with good behavior, and betake to some honest employment for support.

# Appendix 2 - Original Bill Material Pertaining to California Statutes 1860, Chapter 231

This Appendix contains a verbatim transcription of the Original Bill Materials, located in the California State Archives, that are related to the 1860 amendment of the Act for the Government and Protection of Indians passed April 22, 1850. The first document is the initial Assembly Bill No. 65 introduced for consideration on January 19, 1860. The second document is a "substitute" Assembly Bill No. 65, introduced for consideration on February 17, 1860. The third document is the engrossed bill that was enrolled on April 6, 1860.

The first page of each transcribed document in this Appendix contains the legislative history of the bill. This information is handwritten and originally signed by each legislative officer on the front page of the original documents. The language originally contained in the proposed bills, but subsequently deleted from the text during the course of the legislative process is noted in brackets.

#### [First Document Transcription Begins Here]

### Assembly Bill No. 65

An act amendatory of an act entitled an act for the Government and Protection of Indians passed April 22, 1850

In Assembly January 19, 1860 Read first & second time Referred to Com. on Indian Affairs

Weston Asst Clerk

February 11, 1860, Reported with amendt & passage Recommended as amended

Weston Asst Clk

Feb. 13, 1860
Taken from file
& referred to Jud[iciary] Com[mittee]

Weston Asst Clk

Feb 17, 1860, Substitute reported & recommended

Weston Asst Clk

Feb 27, 1860: Substituted adopted & ordered printed

Weston Ass't Clk An Act amendatory of an act entitled An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians passed April 22, 1850

The People of the State of California represented in Senate and Assembly do enact as follows:

Section 1<sup>st</sup>, Section third of said Act is hereby amended so as to read as follows

Section 3d Any person having or hereafter obtaining any Indian child or children male or female from the parents or relations of such child or children [stricken from text: with their] and wishing to domesticate said child or children and any person desiring to obtain any Indian or Indians either children or grown persons that may have been taken prisoner or prisoners [stricken from text: and wishing to domesticate either children or grown persons in any expedit] of war [stricken from text: in any] and wishing to domesticate said Indians, such person shall go before a Justice of the Peace of the County in which such Indians may [stricken from text: be] reside at the time and if the Justice of the Peace becomes satisfied that no compulsory means have been used to obtain the said child or children from its parents or friends or that the said child or children or other Indian or indians of either sex have been taken and are held as a prisoner or prisoners of war, he shall enter on record, in a book kept for that purpose the sex and probable age of the child or children or other indians, and shall give to such person a certificate authorizing him or her to have the care custody control and earnings of such child or children or other Indians, for and during the following term of years. such children as are under twelve years of age, until they attain the age of twenty five years, such children as are over twelve and under eighteen years of age until they attain the age of thirty years, and such indians as may be over the age of eighteen years, for and during the term of ten years then next following the date of said certificate, any person or persons [stricken: being] having any indian or indians in his or their possession as such prisoners shall have the preference to domesticate as many of such indians as he or they may desire for their own use, every indian either male or female in the possession or under the control of any person under the provisions of this act shall be taken and deemed to be a minor Indian, [stricken from text: for such]

Sec. 2<sup>nd</sup> Section seventh of said act is hereby amended so as to read as follows,

Sec 7. If any person shall forcibly convey any Indian from any place without this State to any place within this State, or from his or her home within this State, or compel him, or her, to work or perform any services against his or her will,

Except as provided in this act, he or they may be upon conviction fined in any sum not less than fifty dollars, nor more than five hundred dollars, at the discretion of the Court

[First Document Transcription Ends Here]

# [Second Document Transcription Begins Here]

# Substitute for Assembly Bill No. 65

An act amendatory of an act entitled An Act for the Government & Protection of Indians

passed April 22, 1850
Feb 17, 1860. Reported as substitute for Assembly Bill No. 65 & passage recommended
Weston Ass't Clk
Feb. 27, 1860, adopted & ordered printed.
Weston Ass't Clk
Mch 10, 1860, amended, suspended, considered engrossed read third time and passed
Weston Asst Clk
Judiciary Committee

An Act amendatory of An Act Entitled "An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians passed April 22 1850

The People of the State of California represented in Senate and Assembly, do enact as follows:

Section 1<sup>st</sup> Section third of said Act is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3: County and District Judges in the respective counties of this State shall by virtue of this Act have full power and authority, at the instance and request of any person having or hereafter obtaining any Indian child or children male or female under the age of fifteen years from the parents or person or persons having the care or charge of such child or children with the consent of such parents or person or persons having the care or charge of any such child or children, or at the instance and request of any person desirous of obtaining any indian or Indians whether children or grown persons that may be held as prisoners of war, or at the instance and request of any person desirous of obtaining any vagrant Indian or Indians as have no settled habitation or means of livelihood and have not placed themselves under the protection of any white person, to bind and put out such Indians as apprentices to trades --- husbandry or other employments as shall to them appear proper, and for this purpose shall execute duplicate Articles of Indenture of Apprenticeship on behalf of such Indians, which Indentures shall also be executed by the person to whom such Indian or Indians are to be indentured: one copy of which shall be filed by the County Judge [stricken from text: with the] in the Recorders Office of the County and one copy retained by the person to whom such Indian or Indians may be indentured; such Indenture shall authorise [sic] such person to have the care custody control and earnings of such Indian or Indians and shall require such person to clothe and suitably provide the necessaries of life, for such Indian or Indians for and during the term for which such Indian or Indians shall be apprenticed, and shall contain the sex name and probable age of such Indian or Indians, Such Indentures may be for the following terms of years, such children as are under fourteen years of age, if males until they attain the age of twenty five years; if females until they attain the age of twenty one years; such as are over fourteen and under twenty years of age if males until they attain the age of thirty years; if females until they attain the age of twenty five years; and such Indians as may be over the age of twenty years for and during the term of ten years then next following the date of such Indenture at the discretion of such Judge. Such Indians as may be indentured under the provisions of this section shall be deemed within such provisions of this act as are applicable to minor Indians

Section 2d Section seventh of said act is hereby amended so as to read as follows,

Section 7 If any person shall forcibly convey any Indian from any place without this State to any place within this State or from his or her home within this State, or compel him or her to work or perform any service against his or her will except as provided in

this Act he or they shall upon conviction thereof be fined in any sum not less than one hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars before any court having jurisdiction at the discretion of the Court, and the collection of such fine shall be enforced as provided by law in other criminal cases, one half to be paid to the prosecutor and one have [sic] to the County in which such conviction is had

[Second Document Transcription Ends Here]

#### [Third Document Transcription Begins Here]

Substitute for Assembly Bill No. 65

An act amendatory of an act entitled an act for the government & protection of Indians passed April 22, 1850

Feb 17, 1860 reported as substitute for assembly Bill No. 65 & passage recommended

Weston

Asst Clk

Feb 27, 1860, adopted and ordered printed

Weston

Asst. Clk

March 10, 1860 Amended rules suspended, considered Engrossed read third time and passed

Weston

Asst Clk

E.W. Casey Engrossing Clerk

231 [in pencil]

**Judiciary Committee** 

March 13th 1860

Read first and second times and refd to the Committee on Federal Relations

Williamson

Asst Secty

March 23<sup>rd</sup> 1860

Reported back and passage recommended & placed on file April 6<sup>th</sup> Taken up read a third time & passed

Enrolled April 6th 1860

H.C. Kibbe

Enrolling Clerk

### Chap 231 [in pencil]

An Act amendatory of an act Entitled "An Act for the Government and Protection of Indians passed April 22d 1850.

The People of the State of California represented in Senate and Assembly do enact as follows.

Section 1. Section third of said Act, is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 3d. County and District Judges in the respective Counties of the State shall by virtue of this act have full power and authority, at the instance and request of any person having or hereafter obtaining any Indian child or children male or female under the age of fifteen years, from the parents or person or persons having the care or charge of such child or children with the consent of such parents or person or persons having the care or charge of any such child or children, or at the instance and request of any person desirous of obtaining any Indian or Indians, whether children or grown persons that may be held as prisoners of war, or at the instance and request of any person desirous of obtaining any vagrant Indian or Indians as have no settled habitation or means of livelihood, and have not placed themselves under the protection of any white person, to bind and put out such Indians as apprentices to trades husbandry or other employments as shall to them appear proper, and for this purpose shall execute duplicate Articles of Indenture of Apprenticeship on behalf of such Indians, which Indentures shall also be executed by the person to whom such Indian or Indians are to be Indentured; one copy of which shall be filed by the County Judge, in the Recorders office of the County, and one copy retained by the person to whom such Indian or Indians may be Indentured, such Indentures shall authorize such person to have the care custody control and earnings of such Indian or Indians and shall require such person to clothe and suitably provide the necessaries of life for such Indian or Indians, for and during the term for which such Indian or Indians shall be apprenticed, and shall contain the sex name and probable age of such Indian or Indians, such indentures may be for the following terms of years; such children as are under fourteen years of age, if males until they attain the age of twenty five years; if females until they attain the age of twenty one years; such as are over fourteen and under twenty years of age, if males until they attain the age of thirty years; if females until they attain the age of twenty five years, and such Indians as may be over the age of twenty years for and during the term of ten years thru next following the date of such indenture at the discretion of such Judge, such Indians as may be indentured under the provisions of this Section, shall be deemed within such provisions of this Act, as are applicable to minor Indians

Section 2. Section Seventh of said act is hereby amended so as to read as follows:

Section 7. If any person shall forcibly convey any Indian from any place without this State, to any place within this State, or from his or her home within this State, or compel him or her to work or perform any service against his or her will except as provided in this act, he or they shall upon conviction thereof, be fined in any sum, not less than one hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars, before any Court having jurisdiction at the discretion of the Court, and the collection of such fine shall be enforced as provided by law in other criminal cases, on half to be paid to the prosecutor, and one half to the County in which such conviction is had.

[Third Document Transcription Ends Here]

California Secretary of State, California State Archives Original Bill File AB 65 1860 Location: E6562 Box 1

Transcribed July 29, 2002 by Kimberly Johnston Dodds, California Research Bureau

# Appendix 3 - Court of Sessions

The Courts of Sessions were the earliest county-level courts of record\* that adjudicated criminal offenses. The first Courts of Sessions in California were authorized by the state Constitution:

There shall be elected in each of the organized counties of this State, one County Judge, who shall hold his office for four years...The County Judge, with two Justices of the Peace, to be designated according to law, shall hold Courts of Sessions with such criminal jurisdiction as the Legislature shall prescribe, and he shall perform such other duties as shall be required by law.<sup>75</sup>

The two Justices of the Peace (Associate Justices of the Courts of Sessions) were chosen by all of the Justices of the Peace from within the county.<sup>76</sup>

The Legislature conferred upon the Courts of Sessions jurisdiction over "all cases of assault, assault and battery, breach of the peace, riot, affray, and petit larceny, and over all misdemeanors punishable by fine not exceeding five hundred dollars, or imprisonment not exceeding three months, or both such fine and imprisonment." The jurisdiction of the Courts of Sessions also extended to grand jury investigations of public offenses committed or triable in the their respective counties, except murder, manslaughter, arson and other crimes that were punished by death. These courts also heard and decided appeals from lower courts that were not courts of record -- the justices', recorders', and mayors' courts. The Courts of Sessions did not have jurisdiction to try indictments against justices of the peace. 78

In counties that did not have a board of supervisors, the Courts of Sessions also had the following powers to:

- Make orders and decisions respecting county property, including care and preservation;
- Examine, settle and allow all accounts legally chargeable against the county;
- Direct assessing the value of real and personal property taxes;
- Examine and audit accounts of all county officers;
- Control and manage public roads, turnpikes, ferries, canals, and bridges within the county;

<sup>\*</sup> A court of record is a court whose proceedings are recorded in some manner of permanence at the same time that the proceedings take place. See *Cal Jur* vol. 16, part 1 3d ed. (San Francisco: Bancroft-Whitney Co. 1983, 2002 supp.) 300-301.

- Divide the county into townships, including changing township boundaries when required; and
- Establish and change election precincts.79

In 1863, the Legislature abolished the Courts of Sessions. The County Courts then maintained similar jurisdiction as the Courts of Sessions.<sup>80</sup>

# Appendix 4 – 1861 Indian Article of Indenture

# SACRAMENTO DAILY UNION MONDAY

nigetion, we tishten to will be of law in 1857. It sp in relation to printing in i, and since that date we beyond a reduction in the times. In 1857 a er prices, which became a levernor Johns inter the system of letting

y contract maj susvey s nut wrom in those States the contract pian, party couring the award of the clow a living profit, party reficiency by a legislative

it the State is ready and te commercial brice for equire ; this, at any rate, pay, and all she can sak is, that she shall not be an men conversat with recounce just and right. d he fired upon the bests te enemat then complain. or reals to that basis, grill the rate fully twenty-live erally. For some work a thirty-three and a third

Manian Bravitors-Work For the Raw Librar Advice... The elecation of the new Istion Agent, or well do that of the Legislature, is called to the communication in another part of this day's liming, in which the beauties of necessary prefere the Indian apprenticable system established by the Legislature of 1860 are exemplified in the transcripts of one of the late Sub-Agusta and er, on the lands adjoining the Norms Luckee Reproption. From a copy of an inhave been filled in the County Clerk's office of Tehans county in December last, it appears that Guiger & Titue, late Government agents or employer on the Reservation, have caused the County Judge, R. Hall, to bind out to them a considerable proportion of the best Indiana, male and female, belonging to the Reserve. The process by which they effected this, as near as be can gather, was to apprentice them by virtue of their right as costodians of the Indians, causing the indentures to be made out to Meners Griger & Titus, as private individuals, engaged in the ranching bininess.

The law of last year was passed under a highlobby pressure, no doubt for the special accommodation of the sumerous parties interested in Indian war claims and Indian subjugation, who busieged the Legislature. , It allows County and District Judges to apprentice Indiana, both children and adults, at the "instance and request" of parties baving them in chargepur of parties desirous of taking up vageant Indians, on the sole condition that they shall promise to suitably clothe and feed them during the term of their apprenticeship. The Act authorizes as complete a system of alayery, without any of the checks and wholesome restraints of alavery, as ever was devised. And Geiger & Trus appear to have availed themselves to the immost extent of its provisions. They have a large ranch adjoining the Reservation, and they have selected, we are told, the Biteliest workmen on the Gova full margin for profit. Ferland ambineties to sale

Hamertrand in skil Prospertie worth a per order-book of the Bergeent-st-Arms in citi branch of the Legislature, and observ or at least how they distribute their among the "Eve daily newspap thent. Taking the list prepared by the Amen hly official, and enum m, we have the follow ing newspapers of which over Are are taken h to DATET Union (Inc. pendent), 89 ; Secremento Water Union, 95 Sen Francisco Spirit of the Times isnorting weekly), 41; San Francisco Bulletin (indepensi ent), 40; San Prancisco Monitor (Catholi weekly), 25; Maryeville Delly Express (secc-sico), 27; Yreka Union (Bouglas has year weekly), 26; San Francisco Herald (e. 21; Sherta Courier (Doingles, weekly), 20; Sar Josquin Republican (secondors), 19; Marysville Democrat (Douglas), 18; Sierra Democra (weekly, Douglas) 18; Mariposa Gazette (weekly, secretion), 18; San Francisco Daily Alta California (independent), 15; San Prac cisco Daily Times (Republican), 14; Bouces Union Democrat (weekly, agression), 12; Marysville Daily Appeal (Republican), 13; Colome Times (weekly, Dongles), 12; Mountain Democrat (weekly, secondon), 12; Secramento News (independent), 11; Pecific Methodia: (weekly, Mathodiat Episcopal Bouth), 10. Golden Era (weekly, Exercity), 10; California Farmer, 10; Nevada Journal (weekly, Republican), 10; Peteloma Argue (weekly, Republican) 8; Butte Record (weekly Douglas), B; Sacramento Dally Bee (lockpendent), 7; Alameda Hersid, weekly, (Siepublican), 7; San Andrepa Independent weekly (independent), 7; Est José Mercury, weekly (Republican), 6; Napa Reporter, weekly (independent), 5; Placer Harald, weekly incomernment property for their servants, leaving the sion), 5; Sun Francisco Call (independent), 5.

In 1837 s ich the times. he prices, which become a Sovernot Jehnson

states the gretem of letting r contract thay maver a int even An those States the contract plan, party ecuring the swant of the selow a living profit party deficiency by a legislative

at the State is ready and ad remunerative price for require; this, all key rate, pay, and all she can sak a, that she shall set be ian man conveyant with srenobnes just and right. id he first upon the basis te cannot then complain ent scale to that basis, will the rate fully twenty-fire erally. For some work n thirty-three andja third e a full margin for profit c as to bbe por and 1 was elected. and bears the price, rork hary be changed a sid that, so he was elected emonable ground to ext to change th e Drice are, and when the State res with a consciousne bedy to repeal or amen d law of 1881 habitat orices as fixed to that of g the monad year of the then State Primer, and

+ SE 20 4 00 art of 1857 the 

si day of his 1857.

as we can gather, was to apprentice them by weekly, 26; Ean Francisco Herald (secession engaged in the ranching bearness.

The law of last year was passed under a high lobby pressure, no doubt for the special accommodelion of the numerous parties interested in Indian war claims and Indian exhjugation, who besieged the Legislature. , It allows County and District Judges to apprended ladians, both children and adulta, at the "instance and request" of parties beining them in chargegor of parties desirous of laking up vagrant ladiums, on the sole condition that they shall promise to suitably ciothe and feed them during the term of their apprenticeable. The Act sutherizes as complete s system of alayers, without say of the checks and wholesome restraints of sievery, as ever was devised. And Goiger & Time suppose to have arniled thenmeiron to the nimont extent of its provisions. They have a large sanch adjoining the Reservation, and they have releasted we are told, the likeliest workmen on the Government property for their servants, leaving the Federal authorities to take here of the laftrm and crippled. The names of seventy-two males and females are given in the indentures, and Geiger & Co. do not appear to have been ever careful in complying with the terms of the lew, generous as its provisions have proved to them, The Indian women under the age of twenty are apprenticed for the full term of the men, which is contrary to the regulations contained within the Act of April, 1860.

The times are profitions for a change in this inhanned law " for the government and prolection of Indians "-s charge which shall deprive the parties in the above transaction, and others who have sought to obtain control of the persons of Indinis under similar circumstances of the unlimited power they hold under the Act of last your. The new Agent is new in his place, and the Legislature of 1661 differs materially in its composition from the one of the year preceding. At all evens, let us have an investigation of the matter brought to notice in another column, and a little light, if light can be obtained, on the general operation of the law under which parties are socking to establish a system of domestic serviced in our midet

ririue of their right as custodians of the indians, 21; Shasta Courier (Doinglas, weekly), 20; Sa. causing the indeniures to be made out to Josquin Republican (securion), 19; Marysville Mesers, Geiger & Time, as private individuals, Democrat (Douglas), 18; Sterra Democra (weekly, Linugian) 16; Mariposa Gazette (wenkly, secession), 15; San Francisco Dally Alta California (Independent), 15; San Fran cisco Daily Times (Republican), 16; Sonors Union Democrat (weekly, secondon), 13; Ms. systille Daily Appeal (Republican), 18; Coloms Times (weskly, Doughe), 12; Mountain Democrat (weekly, accession) 13; Secremento News (independent), 11; Pacific Methodie: weekly, Mathodist Eplecopal South), 10: Golden Ers (weekly, literaly), 10; California Farmer, '10; Nevada Fournal (weekly, Republican), 10; Petaluma Argus (weekly, Republican), 8; Butte ecord (weekly, ally Bes Dougiat, 8; Becramente (lade da Hereki, weekly, (Rependent), 7; Alam Abdrep publican), L; ban weekly (lader weekly (Republican), S | Napa Reporter weekly dans), 7 : B a Josi Mereury (independent), 8 ; Placer Harrid, waski | (secession), 8; Sán Francisco Cell (independent), 5. There are besides these, the ses of thirty seven other papers which are ordered to the address of members singly, or which have only three or four subscribers on the Segment's roll. We have classed as semaion papers those journals which either declare the right of a State to accode or sise oppose coercion on the part of the Federal power. The times do not scient of bair-drawn distinctions in political neasbebei momencjermie un' mosa spen ju beitiest professions.

In the Squate the me In the Senete the newspapers of which over five are ordered, classified according to the alsove arrangement, are as Valtons : Bakka. NAMED DAILY COICE, 28; WESSELT Union, 22; San Francisco Dally Herald, 22; Spirit of the Tieren, 12; Alta California, 1th San Fra Bulletin, 16; Muryarille Express, 14; Sen Francisco Monitor, 18 Pacifi: Methodist, 9; Botre Record, 6; Yreks Linion, 6; Kational Democrat, 6; Democratic Signal (Douglas Dem-ocrat), 6; Mountain Democrat 6; San Francisco Times, 3,

Seeses or Z. Morroonney. The Marystille Express publishes the speech of Z. Montgomery, made recently in the Assembly on the embject of the Broderick expanding meschations, and the notes of the firm

SACRAMENTO DAILY VNION MONDAY FOLL STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE

112 20	Little Sale,	be and received from the hands of the Untilor	Remarks and the same of the sa
traar.		of all shings. Creened by God's hands, he had	By this time Smith was splanging at
egaio!		a right from God toldie, to Red to Aberry:	I DOUGH ICKNESS, MED CHANGE PERIES;
	Newsys—(ed.)		" I say over there whom's it now ?
DE.		and they had no right to deprive him of althor.	" Bet as the deril !" replied livery
i. the	Manage	He shaded to the mate but carnes pleadings	
1	thereas are the same of the sa	of the animal for that illa as posed, as dear to	phore I scine as logoon I can hold out
1	Market 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10		telement ! "The half's fire you can !" shrieked
ies to		him as their own was to them; and the first	A STATE OF THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY OF
, been	Mark 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 199	judgment they might expect if it selfet fore-	Table back and And CHELL SECTIONS
100000	1 Marie - 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	elty and hold hearthment they took therelife	PUBLICA CHARACTER TOTAL COLL MC.
TO SIDE	15 19 day 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19		distings the partition, expecting to
) bear-		they quite not restore again.	diber muta aboked
		During the opposit loans and secret thicker old man's eyes, and were fast reasting down his	
- 18	Fig. 15 - 17 - 44		f' Los internal mont! why didn't ye
4. Bal-	La Sand	DAS INDER SAME WAS ABLE ONE LANGUES NOW THE	plug to?"
- 644	Ber Bady 3.	senternt thesia. Every feeling of a father's heart was stirred within him of he ore the felore	Terral target
1470 4	Regulation of the State of the	heart was stirred within him of he see the februs	"Why, I didn't agree to," said the im
g stip-	- M 15 44 44	greatness of his san before his syre, and beffelt	able joses; "why a the thunder ()
erd for	18 4 44	Statement of the new chicas wit marr' and sellent	Mare year's ont?"
30 M 3000	15 25 de de	that God had himsel him and his shiften be- yound the lot of attenton men. His pity had sympathy from awakmed by the slocused which	
		trained the detail appropriate man. His title had	
Barte.		and the day of the state of the	LAST ADMORSTROUSA late reveres
100	A 44 44	Laboration Street as a second and the second about	
Jansti		THE CONTRACTOR OF THE PERSON SPECIAL PROPERTY.	-der and an an add ground hot did 62.
25 P.		marcy, and forgetting the design in the site.	of her telepts, one day sout his eac .
37 eff.	200707	The state of the s	mituriously late led of twelve wares
	10 de de	from the larger to the state of the same larger	Annual Control of the
11 4.3	Consess of Street, 18 18 18 18 18	and the lather he spring from his shall be the Daniel was in the midd of his argument, with	man, who was as well known for his ear, as he tailmen, who day must his east, a network of the party had, of twelve years down to the mendow so make his hor hay flow \$500 ftg. Manufacture years and the party with mendow of the party with the part
dsain'e	a The medicions of this tedesters are, the		THE RESERVE OF THE PERSON NAMED IN
24 2000	- The Manual of the lates of th	أحمد كال فماهدان عبد منهام بلناها مستوسا فحوا	anteen, with an our of sord in and
merts	the next f. I Time and V. L. Geiger shift citable, food, onre for and protect each of the acid factions bereinhalors measuremed, and shift		
*., 505	Charles Intel earl tot was bedreen over at the	learn up also he arcivines	
See to	lacid Ladio at herempoters measurem, and see	- very boar los les les abbunds fall "	11
- 13	the all and everything pressured by leve to &		Thereof I and his fither, and his a
	eaid facilie at hereinheder manifesters are not do all sed trayphing prescribed by law in the gard to the lations to approximent under the laws of the State. And in consideration, they	I The les will the same has at the	In its projection in the of widow "(Constitution
Coper.	The state of the same of the s	The second secon	المحالف الناب واستوانية
day, at	thall by and are hereby aptitled to the sale	Land Long man delibration II for Aming South	
a week		is reads to the cital to the destablished the	Part her territory and tool bounded by
	SORTH, SERVICE STREET,	أ كالسَّمُ لِمَا مُعَالِمُ مِنْ فِي فِي فِي اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ ا	17 Ton Augh, District I have there
	thall be and are herely outlied to be on nontree, seatedy and servings of said helfs for and during the new for which seek is a specifiedy in bound, seek the provision is assisted. The intent and postering if this inten- ners is take: The said forced Hall, Judges of the Gennity of Thismas, Balai of Uniforms, settly for and in behalf of the Indiana under the	THE RESIDENCE PARTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY A	
7. 944	Specificial by pages 'sade, me keatment by	the sale of the control of the sale of the	المالية
ei and	said law. The belost and poening if this take-	Libertell i Chair are trachion of the Distily	
er 2000	to be the state of the self north Marie Judge of Pi	derengen the blackers suited to take social-	
- 1	Character of Tahama, Blatel of California, settle		The Printer of the late of the
armed.	the and in heart of the Indians under the dr		All all a Company of the Laboratory
TEAL	Secretaries like home of said Sease, has so appropr	Deposit in tall the land of the land of the	THE REAL PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON
4 486	Les the above served ladiens to said Titte &	I TE OL BALL THE MAN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND A	DESCRIPTION AND DEVICE THE PARTY OF STREET
ate le			
	Bougut, in he need in minuhant, forjeing de	الأنا حالوري أن كالعبد ! أحجد مناه أنه المعرو مراي عبد أ	market before the land of the
*	BORDOWSER. MANUEL HALL	produced by the state of the st	
	"Judge of the County of Tybers, Straigh	Language of Tolkins' by Langua be no orbi-	ment hand has an huntel mannet jung!
cloudes	California + 1 M	dilan an fally toporiod de Louden papara al-	percent boy, Thomas, and Mygra didner
	W. Carrette, and a Contract of the Contract of	المستعلد للبعائل الشيشانية المحب مراوسه	. حافظتو الله سب تشاط سندانو مناسد
Pleti-	AND E Grandell	The state of the s	The property of the property of the party of
d Key	The following has indestructed in T. E. Unider		the second of th
	to the mount, on the seize day to the said		A was not a name of the last of the
lorsis	where here been taken below by but	James - tolograph   best /es - 4, pittl _berjed	und spines aspect, the polit has been
. 776		rese residi? hale three he was become the	Mariament and house laters later
. 45		أحدا مطلساهم وللشريج وأواوراك أووراها	"THE way and you send a show ! I 's
	of age		Salar Sa
95 act	July Markey, aged broken, bound \$15 havesty-\$14 points	the county and the commence of the desired	, parte 1 mg an area desired
warre!	of sec.	CONTRACTOR SECURITIES WHEN CONSTRUCTION OF THE	Administration of the second o
r mei it.		perconstitty of working them through from the	This so pricesed Thems' Marke
secols.	Sandara, agust Saratra, branch dll Sarathy d'en year		The so particularly have the terminal and sought the same to be the terminal and the same terminal and the sam
-			
eleck.	Sen. Baten, sout benies, brund the termity fire yelle	Irabad Colonel Statute encounced by pur many and the state of Grandell Irab published Company for the same and Grandell State of the State of the Grandell State of the St	
t ler		tracend, Colemen Columns; emplyment his his	
17 6	The same breaty-dre, bound till thirty-tire yours of	page to service againshord route proy Grasshad	Shorous Assertant, Wa Justa that a grant, named Antonia, Wa Justawiky injuryed while ampliting in yet the atvaces a parkey way from Pauliu street which the grant and are a street of the street of the street, and was a frame to the short, and was a fixture to the street, and was a fixture to the street, and was a fixture to the short. Inscribing his band of the short of the street, and was a street of the street.
		I bestered modeline Player below and on March had	green, newed Antonia, THE Justicide?
Librios	Maderica agai tomely-dra, beaut fill thirty-fire years	Large Sandy Comment for the president	injured while appliting to got the store
7, 254			tone proder way from Posific street wh-
dy, by opetic	Fanny frief, have knowing bound the bound fire years	Should sell the second any so many	helt first got rought to a havene which
spette		able response, application was teach to Lard	the discount to the wheel and was a
Z000	Proof (sas), aged sight, bread 152 homely-Des years	able response application was made to Lord Palmermon, who belied a deputation of help-	division by the shoot beautiful his hard
abye	af des	making additional in Landon and the 14th day of	official and the P. Break The au
-	Will have forth where and the country of country	ential eltinon in London on the 16th day of last May, is begin the sid of the Govern- ment of Great Brisin. The results this	
ribing	Sear of Art. and efficient, based III thirty goon of	last May, to involve the aid of the Govern- ment of Great Britain. The counts this	
cuties	I'mil (and) where the read are read here to	man of Great Billain. The remain this	. Tel Got sen Loc. This morner *
n Ske		Lay are then haven. A property within	rived on Saturday, Pobroury 14, bro
	Also the following to J. W. Time, on the same	instion by Captain McClistock of the	passingers, Bil bags of mail muller, \$
	Jan as above:	depth of the me between the perion stations	
	Bear, agel serentors, board till blirty yome af age. Simiry, agel sighines; board till blirty yomes af age.	other or set me accused rest former previous	in trepours, and I bull, I com, I bernes,
-	A CANADA AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN	on the proposed route, here proved, according	and thebers.
	TABLE STATE SECTIONS CONTRACTOR THE PARTY OF	lan alan annon di alternatible sensia ferenabila for l	
ÇLIVS	a		
-		المالة المتأطب مصرعت مساخ والأرم والسروانية والمرا	
-		the levine of a cable than about of white and	HARRIED.
pac- raspa, cossi	Observery, agent starrow, named ME bergady-dree proset of	the laying of a cable than those of white the	
pac- raspa,	Observery, agent starrow, named ME bergady-dree proset of	the laying of a cable than those of white the	In Son Francisco, Jos. Slot, Appress M.
pac- raspa, coast These	Observery, agent starrow, named ME bergady-dree proset of	the laying of a cable than those of white the	In Hon Francisco, Jos. Sleig Rowann M.
pac- raspa, coast These And	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dree power of an action (sheet depend d'Assau, meant will things yours of ages, destable (sheet, meant has, meant all dependent from yours	the aging of a dable man choice on wears are former American paths you as consortly mit- metried, the water being four handred fathous less in its despent parts. [10] that part of the	In Hon Francisco, Jos. Sleig Rowann M.
pac- raspa, coast These And ara to	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dree power of an action (sheet depend d'Assau, meant will things yours of ages, destable (sheet, meant has, meant all dependent from yours	the laying of a cable men choice so weart as former. American sable you amonomed thy mil- men jud, the water being four handred fathers less in its despise parts. If I'll that part of the reside heatwen, lessed and frethinal, the re-	In Hon Francisco, Jos. Slot, Rowann M.
pac- rasps, seest These And are to	Guggay, apra steres, meant all branky-dre pourt of Sale (ske) april 60mm, neant all they years of the destate (ske), april bu, brank till branky-dre pourt at apr.	the laying of a cable men choice so weart as former. American sable you amonomed thy mil- men jud, the water being four handred fathers less in its despise parts. If I'll that part of the reside heatwen, lessed and frethinal, the re-	La Son Principes, Inc. Slot, Arrend M. Arrend, Morray S. La Son Transferi, Inc. Slat, Roused Man- serois Stone. La Sin Prancisco, Jan. Tim, B. S. Australia La Sin Prancisco, Jan. Tim, B. S. Australia
a pac- riaga, acast These Asti are to thus,	Guggay, apra steres, meant all branky-dre pourt of Sale (ske) april 60mm, neant all they years of the destate (ske), april bu, brank till branky-dre pourt at apr.	the laying of a cable men choice so weart as former. American sable you amonomed thy mil- men jud, the water being four handred fathers less in its despise parts. If I'll that part of the reside heatwen, lessed and frethinal, the re-	In Sun Principes, Joe. Slot, Rowann M. Amos S. Monard. In Sun Semelani, Jan. Sid. Rowann Ma- sense Sunt. In Sul Principes, Jan. Stu, R. S. Amoto : E. Lawley.
pac- riapa, const These Asd are to thus,	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dire pourt of Salls (shr) deed diless, meant all things years of ages deschale (see), aged but, beauty dill descrip-dire years of age. Lilly (see), aged sight, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of	the aging of a cable man shore an water the former American paths you secondfully mil- metryed, the water being four hindred fathous less in its despent parts." [10] that part of the trains between itsland and Gretchind, the re- tearchable fait was proved, that no less exists where, according to the most uninean extherity,	In Sun Francisco, Jon. Sleig Browns M. Amos S. More 27: In Sun Tennelson, Jan. Sist, Duerro Man- sesses Boset. In Sul Prancisco, Jan. Sist, R. S. Amondo i S. Landresc, In Suly Francisco, Jan. Sist, Dartin Marre- lin Suly Francisco, Jan. Sist, Dartin Marre-
rhape, a coast These And are to thus, ex up	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dire pourt of Salls (shr) deed diless, meant all things years of ages deschale (see), aged but, beauty dill descrip-dire years of age. Lilly (see), aged sight, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of	the asying of a cable men shoes as wearn, as former American sable you amoustfully sub- margued, the water being four headred fathous less in lite despont parts." [10] that part of his trusts between locked and frethland, the re- increable fact, was proved, that no less exists, where, assorting in the most subsent authority. the son was impressibably showed with it. An-	Lo San Principa, Jon. Sloi, Republe M. danes S. Morrey.  In Soc. Transless, Jon. Sid. Republe Mars.  In Soc. Transless, Jon. Sid. R. America M. d. San San S. S. Company, Jon. 17th, R. S. America S. S. San San S. S. San
a pac- rhaps, seems These And mars to sire to thus, ex up	Gusting, ages storen, meant all beauty-dree genet of Julia (ske) deed fillen, meant all thirty years of ages, another (ske), aged his, beauty 102 Security Nymes of age. July (ske), aged sight, beauty fill security-dree years of the field (ske), ages from his beauty fill security-dree years of	the aging of a cable man choice as wears; the former American actio year accountify mil- mergred, the water being from hindred fathous- less in its despent parts. [10] that part of the resist between Iseland and Gretchland, the re- increable fact was proved, that no ice exists where, according to the most unicent authority, the son was impressibally theread with it. An	In Sun Printen, Jon Siel, Rowann M. Amon S. Moore St. In Sun Tenantine, Jan Siel, Routen Min- sense Rose. In Siel Printerion, Jon Stin, R. B. Amondo i E. Landresc. In Sun Printerio, Jan Siel, Dartin Marre- Mantine. Beart Saie Chr. Jan 30th Marron McCarr Mantine.
a pac- rhaps, seest These And sers to thus, ex up forts, Such	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dire pourt of Salls (shr) deed diless, meant all things years of ages deschale (see), aged but, beauty dill descrip-dire years of age. Lilly (see), aged sight, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of	the aging of a cable man choice as wears; the former American actio year accountify mil- mergred, the water being from hindred fathous- less in its despent parts. [10] that part of the resist between Iseland and Gretchland, the re- increable fact was proved, that no ice exists where, according to the most unicent authority, the son was impressibally theread with it. An	La Soni Printler, Inc. Slot, Reverse M. Anne S. Morrett. In Soni Existency Inc. Slot, Reserve Man See Soni Existency Inc. Stat, R. S. Americo in La Son Soni Printler, Jan. Stat, R. S. Americo in La Soni Printler, Jan. Spin, Bastin Marvel Martins. Beauty the City, Jan. 3pin, Marves McQuir Martins.
rhaps, a coast. These And coars to mire to thus, et up forts, a fact.	Gussey, ages serves, meant all beauty-dire pourt of fortis (star) agest defined, according theiry years at type destable (see) agest but, money the freezing-dire years of age.  Lifey (see), agest detail, beauty-dire years of fortis (being agest freezing-dire) years of age.  Lifey (see), agest freezing broad attl arrangedre years of age.  Lipitor, agest see, oranged till arrangedre years of age.	the arying of a cable man shoots as wearen as ferner american paths you amountedly sub- merged, the water being four hindred fattoms less in he despent parts."    Of that part of the trusts between lessand and Gretchand, the re- instrable fact was proval, that no lee crists where, according in the most atminust authority. The son was imperiateably shorted with it. An- other lateracting circumstance, in a according point of view, in the alsocarry that assemble life	La Sun: Frincisco, Jon. Slot, Rrunnin M. Amer S. Morreys. La Sun: Francisco, Jan. Slat, Riscotto Man- serces Sinne. La Sul Francisco, Jon. Stat, R. S. Associo i S. Landrer. La Sul Francisco, Jon. Stat, Darrie. Marry- Mancial. Bearly Sale Chy, Jon. 3pin, Menture McQuir Senumpia. La Philadoma, Jan. 3pin, Jone L. Yan Doune.
a pac- riage, a coast These And sare to sire to thus, ex sp forts, Bach	Gusting, ages stores, meant all beauty-dire pourt of Salls (shr) deed diless, meant all things years of ages deschale (see), aged but, beauty dill descrip-dire years of age. Lilly (see), aged sight, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of Salls (he), aged four, beauty dill security-dire years of	the aging of a cable man choice as wears; the former American actio year accountify mil- mergred, the water being from hindred fathous- less in its despent parts. [10] that part of the resist between Iseland and Gretchland, the re- increable fact was proved, that no ice exists where, according to the most unicent authority, the son was impressibally theread with it. An	La Soni Printing, Inc. Sing Republic Manner S. Monterer.  In Son: Tenerises, Inc. Sid. Reserve Min Sin. Son: Tenerises, Inc. Sid. Reserve Min Sin. Sid. Printing, Inc. Stat. R. A. America in Landing.  La Son. Printing, Inc. Stat. Darrie Marve Marving.  Read Paid City, Inc. 3pin, Meanur McQuirence.

## **Endnotes**

- <sup>1</sup> To my knowledge, either scholars, or the State of California, have never published an exhaustive and complete review of primary sources or thorough compilation related to this subject.
- <sup>2</sup> Given the scope of the research, a review of secondary historical sources was first conducted. Based upon this research, a number of primary and original State of California legislative and executive documents were analyzed, mainly from the period of 1850 to 1865. I also examined certain primary sources of federal documents related to California Indian Affairs during the same time period and contained in the same collections. The primary documents and sources reviewed for this report are located at the California State Archives, California State Library, Sacramento Archives and Museum Collection Center, and the Bancroft Library at the University of California, Berkeley. The secondary sources are located in the California State Library and University of California library collections.
- <sup>3</sup> J. Ross Browne, Report of the Debates in the Convention of California on the Formation of the State Constitution, (Washington: John T. Tower, 1850), 70, 64-65.
- 4 CAL. CONST. of 1850, Art. II, § 1.
- <sup>5</sup> 43 U.S.C. 253. See generally, Felix S. Cohen's, *Handbook of Federal Indian Law*, (Albuquerque: University of New Mexico Press. 1971, reprint of the 1942 edition), 153-159; Chauncey S. Goodrich, "The Legal Status of the California Indian," *California Law Review* 14, no. 2 (January 1926) 83-84; N.D. Houghton, "The Legal Status of Indian Suffrage in the United States," *California Law Review* 19, no. 5 (July 1931), 507-520.
- <sup>6</sup> Original Bill File, Chapter 133, 1850, California Secretary of State, State Archives, Location E6553, Box 1, (transcript of Original Bill File contents on file with the California Research Bureau); Journal of the Senate of the State of California, at the First Session of the Legislature, 1849-1850, (San José: J. Winchester, State Printer, 1850) 217, 224 (Senate Journal 1850).
- <sup>7</sup> Original Bill File Chapter 133, 1850.
- <sup>8</sup> Original Assembly Bill No. 129, Original Bill File Chapter 133, 1850; Senate Journal 1850, 367, 386-387.
- <sup>9</sup> 1937 Cal. Stat. ch. 269; Cal. Welf. and Inst. Code §20.000.
- <sup>10</sup> 1855 Cal. Stat. ch. 144; 1860 Cal. Stat. ch. 231; 1863 Cal. Stat. ch. 475; 1863 Cal. Stat. ch. 499.
- 11 1850 Cal. Stat. ch.99 § 14; 1851 Cal. Stat. ch. 5 § 394 3d.
- 12 CAL, CONST. of 1850, Art. VI, § 14.
- 13 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 73 §§ 1-3.
- 14 Ibid.
- 15 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 119, § 103.
- <sup>16</sup> Henry J. Labatt, The California Practice Act: ... also "An Act concerning the Courts of Justice in this state, and Judicial Officers," passed May 19, 1853..., 4<sup>th</sup> ed. (San Francisco: Kenny & Alexander, 1861), 323-326.
- 17 1853 Cal. Stat. ch. 1 § 89; 1863 Cal. Stat. ch. 260 § 48 (9); Labatt, The California Practice Act, 324.
- 18 Original Bill File, Chapter 133, 1850.
- 19 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 133 § 20.
- <sup>20</sup> Ibid.

- 21 i 855 Cal. Stat. ch. 144.
- <sup>22</sup> Henry J. Labatt, The California Practice Act, citing \_\_\_\_\_§394.
- <sup>23</sup> Original Bill File, Chapter 231, 1860, Secretary of State, California State Archives.
- <sup>24</sup> 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 133 §§ 16-17; People v. Juan Antonio, 27 Cal. 404 (1865).
- <sup>25</sup> In the Matter of The Indian Boy Frank, Petition of L. Harris for Apprenticeship, filed January 28, 1862; William Moorhead to Hon. Robert Robinson, Petition for Apprentice, filed March 4, 1862, in the Sacramento Archives and Museum Collection Center, Sacramento County Archives, County Court: Indian Indentures, 80/132/20-21: 32:42. Copies of originals and related transcripts are on file with the California Research Bureau.
- <sup>26</sup> William Moorhead to Hon. Robert Robinson, Petition for Apprentice, filed March 4. 1862, Sacramento County Archives, County Court: Indian Indentures, 80/132/20-21: 32:42.
- 27 Ibid
- <sup>28</sup>Robert F. Heizer and Alan F. Almquist, *The Other Californians: Prejudice and Discrimination under Spain, Mexico and the United States to 1920* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1971), 53.
- <sup>29</sup> Heizer and Almquist, 51-57.
- 30 "Lo, the Poor Indian," Alta California, April 7, 1855, 2-1.
- <sup>31</sup> San Francisco Herald, December 14, 1856, 4-1.
- 32 "Indian Slavery," Alta California, April 14, 1862, 1.
- 33 1860 Cal. Stat. ch. 254.
- <sup>34</sup> Francis P. Farquhar, ed. *Up and Down California in 1860-1864: The Journal of William H. Brewer* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1966), 493.
- <sup>35</sup> Jesse B. Hart, A Treatise on the Practice of the Courts of the State of California, Carefully Adapted to Existing Law, (New York: Gould, Banks & Co., 1853). 108.
- <sup>36</sup> 1858 Cal. Stat. ch. 182 § 13.
- <sup>37</sup> 1858 Cal. Stat. ch. 182 § 8.
- 38 1858 Cal. Stat. ch. 182 § 9.
- 39 1858 Cal. Stat. ch. 182 § 14.
- 40 1855 Cal. Stat. ch 165 § 1.
- 41 1855 Cal. Stat. ch 175 §§ 3-5.
- <sup>42</sup> 1863 Cal. Stat. ch. 525 § 1.
- <sup>43</sup> Peter H. Burnett. "Governor's Annual Message to the Legislature. January 7, 1851," in *Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the State of California, at the Second Session of the Legislature, 1851-1852*, (San Francisco: G.K. Fitch & Co., and V.E. Geiger & Co., State Printers. 1852). 15.
- 44 CAL, CONST. of 1850, Art. VII, § 3.
- <sup>45</sup> Peter H. Burnett. "Governor's Annual Message to the Legislature. January 7. 1851," in *Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the State of California, at the Second Session of the Legislature, 1851-1852*, (San Francisco: G.K. Fitch & Co., and V.E. Geiger & Co., State Printers. 1852), 13.
- <sup>46</sup> Ibid., 16-17.

<sup>47</sup> Ibid., 18.

48 Ibid.

<sup>49</sup> ROOT CELLAR, Sacramento Geneaological Society, California State Militia: Index to the Muster Rolls of 1851 to 1866 (Sacramento: The Society, 1999). ii, 1396-1465.

<sup>50</sup> Ibid., 1432-1446.

51 Ibid., ii.

52 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 54.

53 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 76.

<sup>54</sup> 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 54, §§ 1, 7, 17, 20.

<sup>55</sup> 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 76, § 1.

<sup>56</sup> 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 76, §§ 6, 8, 10, 45, 56, 57.

<sup>57</sup> 1851 Cal. Stat. ch. 91; 1851 Cal. Stat. ch. 125.

<sup>58</sup> "Majority Report of the Special Joint Committee on the Mendocino War," in Appendix to Journals of the Senate, of the Eleventh Session of the Legislature of the State of California, (Sacramento: C.T. Botts, State Printer, 1860), 4-6.

<sup>59</sup> Ibid., 7.

<sup>60</sup> "Minority Report of the Special Joint Committee on the Mendocino War." in *Appendix to Journals of the Senate, of the Eleventh Session of the Legislature of the State of California*, (Sacramento: C.T. Botts, State Printer, 1860), 10.

61 Ibid.

62 Ibid.

<sup>63</sup> Journal of the House of Assembly of California at the Eleventh Session of the Legislature, 1860, (Sacramento: C.T. Botts, State Printer, 1860), 196.

<sup>64</sup> Peter H. Burnett, "Governor's Annual Message to the Legislature. January 7, 1851." in *Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the State of California, at the Second Session of the Legislature, 1851-1852*, (San Francisco: G.K. Fitch & Co., and V.E. Geiger & Co., State Printers, 1852), 15.

65 A comprehensive analysis of this important aspect of California history is beyond the scope of this report. For a sample of further discussion from various viewpoints, see William Henry Ellison. The Federal Indian Policy in California, 1846-1860. Thesis, (Berkeley: University of California, 1913): reprinted in (Saratoga: R and E Research Associates, 1974) 170- 199; James J. Rawls, Indians of California: The Changing Image (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1984) 141-170; and H. Kelsey, "The California Indian Treaty Myth." Southern California Quarterly, 15 no. 3 (1973). 225-235.

66 Ellison, 186.

<sup>67</sup> Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the State of California, at the Third Session of the Legislature, 1852. (Sacramento: State Printing Office, 1852), 44-45.

<sup>68</sup> "Report of the Special Committee on the Disposal of the Public Lands of the United States in California," in *Journals of the Senate and Assembly of the State of California, at the Third Session of the Legislature*, 1852. (San Francisco: G.K. Fitch & Co., and V.E. Geiger & Co., State Printers. 1852), 589.

<sup>69</sup> Ibid., 590-591.

<sup>70</sup> Assembly Journal - 1852, 270; Senate Journal - 1852, 195-198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Ellison, 193, citing *Congressional Globe*, 32 Cong., 1 Sess, Part III, 2103; and *Congressional Record*, 58 Cong., 3 Sess. Part I. 1021.

<sup>72 1852</sup> Cal. Stat. ch. 62, § 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Original Bill File, Chapter 62, 1852. California Secretary of State, State Archives, Location LP1:1502, (transcript of Original Bill File contents on file with the California Research Bureau): *Journal of the Senate of the State of California, at the Third Session of the Legislature, 1852*, (Sacramento: State Printing Office, 1852), 185-186 (Senate Journals – 1852).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Original Bill File, Chapter 62, 1852.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> CAL. CONST. of 1850, Art. VI. § 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> 1850 Cal. Stats. ch. 86, § 2; 1851 Cal. Stat. ch. 1 § 64; 1853 Cal. Stat. ch. 180 § 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> 1850 Cal. Stat. ch. 86 § 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Jesse B. Hart, A Treatise on the Practice of the Courts of the State of California, Carefully Adapted to Existing Law, (New York: Gould, Banks & Co., 1853) 7.

<sup>79</sup> Ibid.

<sup>80 1863</sup> Cal. Stat. ch. 260 §§ 47-53, 89.